Texas Medical Center Library DigitalCommons@TMC

UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

12-2017

ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING OF THE AMYLOID PRECURSOR PROTEIN IN RAT CORTICAL NEURONS

sahily reyes

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations Part of the <u>Cell Biology Commons, Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons, Molecular</u> <u>Biology Commons, and the Translational Medical Research Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

reyes, sahily, "ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING OF THE AMYLOID PRECURSOR PROTEIN IN RAT CORTICAL NEURONS" (2017). UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access). 828. http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations/828

This Dissertation (PhD) is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences at DigitalCommons@TMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@TMC. For more information, please contact laurel.sanders@library.tmc.edu.



ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING OF THE AMYLOID

PRECURSOR PROTEIN IN RAT CORTICAL NEURONS

by

Sahily Reyes-Esteves

APPROVED:

Andrew J. Bean, Ph.D. Advisory Professor

Neal Waxham, Ph.D.

Andrey Tsvetkov, Ph.D.

Darren Boehning, Ph.D.

Edgar T. Walters, Ph.D.

APPROVED:

Dean, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center UTHealth Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING OF THE AMYLOID PRECURSOR PROTEIN IN RAT CORTICAL NEURONS

А

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

The University of Texas

MD Anderson Cancer Center UTHealth

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

Sahily Reyes-Esteves, B.S.

Houston, Texas

July 2017

Dedication

To my beloved Mami, who was my greatest cheerleader. I could write another thesis about all you taught me in life, and still continue to teach me. I hope to honor you in all I do. *"Instruye al niño en su camino, y aún cuando fuere viejo, no se apartará de él" (Prov. 22:6).* Te voy a amar para siempre.

To Papi, Ari, Nandy, Ian, Nani, and Yirán: You are my people, my tribe, my team. I can't begin to express how much you mean to me, how much I love you, and how proud I am to be your daughter, sister, and aunt.

To my husband, Francisco, because regardless of where we live, you are my rock and my home. This degree is the product of effort, sweat, tears, gray hairs, and sleepless nights for both of us, and you have remained through it all. I could never have done this without you. We are a team. I LOVE YOU!

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I want to acknowledge the work of every member of the Bean Lab. Natalie, Monica, Kimiya, David, and Ting: Working alongside all of you, in happy times and in times of tremendous stress, has helped shaped me as a person like no other experience in recent years. I cannot thank you enough for putting up with me through these years, for providing your ideas, your creativity, your patience, and your love into this project and my life. I truly hope to remain friends with you all for many years to come.

I would also like to thank others in our department and school, including Dr. Ritika Tewari, Max Odem, Tara Fisher, Ndidi-Ese Uzor, and Felix Moruno Manchón for their help, conversations and friendship. Thank you to Sharon Gordon and Amanda Williamson for all that you do for the students in our program.

Dr. Andrew Bean, thank you for meeting with me in Fall 2013 and introducing me to the field of endocytic trafficking. Thank you for being patient, inspiring, motivational, and for challenging me to become a better scientist. Under your guidance, I have gained skills in the bench and beyond that will be invaluable for my future as a physician-scientist and a professional. After 4 years under your mentorship, I have a deeper respect and admiration for who you are as a scientist and as a person. I hope to continue collaborating with you in the future.

To the members of my committee, Dr. M. Neal Waxham, Dr. E. Terry Walters, Dr. Patrick Zweidler-McKay, Dr. Darren Boehning, and Dr. Andrey Tsvetkov, for taking their time to provide such valuable insight for the development of this project. Your thoughts and questions challenged me, but helped me gain independence in my scientific thinking. I would not have made it here without your support and teaching. For that, I am forever in your debt.

Abstract

ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING OF THE AMYLOID PRECURSOR PROTEIN IN RAT CORTICAL NEURONS

Sahily Reyes-Esteves, B.S.

Advisory Professor: Andrew J. Bean, Ph.D.

Amyloid-beta (A β) aggregation and deposition into extracellular plagues is a hallmark of the most common forms of dementia, including Alzheimer's disease. The Aβ-containing plagues result from pathogenic cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP) by secretases resulting in intracellular production of Aß peptides that are secreted and accumulate extracellularly. Despite considerable progress towards understanding APP processing and Aß aggregation, the mechanisms underlying endosomal production of Aß peptides and their secretion remain unclear. Using endosomes isolated from cultured primary neurons, we determined that the trafficking of APP from the endosomal membrane into internal vesicles of late endosome/multivesicular bodies (MVB) is dependent on Endosomal Sorting Complexes Required for Transport (ESCRT) machinery. This implied that APP is ubiquitinated to allow ESCRT interactions. We then identified that the endosome-associated E3 ubiquitin ligase, UBE4B, is required for efficient endosomal APP trafficking. These results suggest that the efficiency of endosomal APP trafficking regulates A β generation. Decreasing A β levels in the brain may be a mechanism for disease modification in amyloidrelated dementia. These experiments elucidate cellular mechanisms that are amenable to regulation and could serve as potential therapeutic targets for amyloid pathologies.

Table of Contents

Approval Page				
Title Page				
Dedication				
Acknowledgements				
Abstract				
Table of Contents				
List of Figures				
Abbreviations				
Chapter 1. Introduction				
	1.1.	Alzheimer's Disease	1	
	1.2.	Amyloid Precursor Protein	3	
	1.3.	Endocytic trafficking of membrane proteins in mammalian cells	5	
	1.4.	Ubiquitination of membrane proteins for endocytic trafficking	7	
	1.5.	Recognition and trafficking of cargo by the ESCRT complexes:	8	
	1.6.	The ubiquitin factor E4B (UBE4B) in endocytic trafficking	10	
	1.7.	APP movement and A β production through the endocytic pathway	11	
	1.8.	Hypothesis statement	12	
Chap	Chapter 2. Materials and Methods			
	2.1	Materials	17	
	2.2	DNA/RNA Constructs	17	
	2.3	Mammalian Cell Culture	17	
	2.4	Primary Neuron Culture	17	
	2.5	Immunocytochemistry	18	
	2.6	Discontinuous sucrose gradient for endosome enrichment	18	
	2.7	Cytosol Preparation	19	
	2.8	Immunoprecipitation and immunodepletion	20	
	2.9	Cell-free endosomal reconstitution assay	20	
	2.10	Cell transfection and lentivirus production	21	
	2.11	Immunoblotting	22	
	2.12	ELISA	22	
	2.13	Statistical analysis	22	

Chapter 3. Endogenously Expressed Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) is			
localized on neuronal endosomes			
Chapter 4. Inward budding of endogenous APP into the mature endosome			
lumen			
Chapter 5. UBE4B is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that binds to, ubiquitinates APP and	44		
mediates efficient APP trafficking on endosomes			
Chapter 6. Discussion			
6.1 Endogenously Expressed Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) is localized on	59		
neuronal endosomes			
6.2 Inward budding of endogenous APP into the mature endosome lumen	62		
6.3 UBE4B is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that binds to, ubiquitinates APP and mediates	66		
efficient APP trafficking on endosomes			
6.4 Future Directions	69		
6.5 Conclusions	72		
Bibliography			
Vita			

List of Figures

Figure 1A. Pathological findings in Alzheimer's disease (AD).	13
Figure 1B. Processing of the amyloid precursor protein (APP).	14
Figure 1C. Summary of ESCRT proteins involved in the endocytic trafficking of	15
mammalian membrane proteins.	
Figure 1D. Illustration of endocytic APP trafficking in neurons.	16
Figure 2A. Discontinuous sucrose gradient for separation of endosomal	23
subpopulations in primary cortical neurons.	
Figure 2B. Schematic of the cell-free endosomal maturation assay.	24
Figure 3A. Endogenous APP is expressed in cultured rat cortical neurons.	29
Figure 3B. Endogenous APP colocalizes with endosomal markers in primary	30
cortical neurons at steady state.	
Figure 3C. Enrichment of endosomal subpopulations from cortical neurons	31
through discontinuous sucrose gradient.	
Figure 3D. APP localization on endosomes can be assessed by protease	32
protection.	
Figure 4A. APP movement from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal	37
vesicles is mediated by cytosolic components.	
Figure 4B. Yeast deletion strains used to examine the role of ESCRT machinery	38
in APP endosomal trafficking.	
Figure 4C. Efficient trafficking of full-length APP depends on components of all	39
4 ESCRT complexes.	
Figure 4D. Absence of early and late ESCRT components leads to increased	40
Aβ42 production.	
Figure 4E. Immunodepletion of Hrs from rat brain cytosol	41
Figure 4F. Depletion of Hrs significantly reduces APP movement into	42
endosomal internal vesicles.	
Figure 4G. Absence of Hrs significantly increases production of A β 42 in	43
endosomes.	
Figure 5A. APP is ubiquitinated at steady-state in primary cortical neurons.	47
Figure 5B. UBE4B co-immunoprecipitates with APP.	48
Figure 5C. Overexpression of UBE4B leads to decreased APP levels in lysate.	49

Figure 5D. Efficiency of lentiviral transfection in primary cortical neurons.	50
Figure 5E. UBE4B depletion in primary cortical neurons leads to increased APP	51
levels in lysate.	
Figure 5F. Absence of UBE4B leads to decreased APP ubiquitination.	52
Figure 5G. Immunodepletion of UBE4B from rat brain cytosol.	53
Figure 5H. Depletion of UBE4B does not affect Hrs levels in cytosol.	54
Figure 5I. Absence of UBE4B leads to decreased APP protection from trypsin.	55
Figure 5J. Absence of UBE4B leads to significantly increased levels of A β 42 in	56
endosomes.	
Figure 5K. Production of A β 42, caused by absence of UBE4B, can be	57
significantly decreased in the presence of the BACE inhibitor, C3.	

List of Abbreviations

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) Amyloid precursor protein (APP) Amyloid beta (Aβ) Beta-site APP Cleavage Enzyme 1 (BACE-1) 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) Early endosomal antigen 1 (EEA1) Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) Endosomal sorting coplexes required for transport (ESCRT) F-box and leucine rich repeat protein 2 (FBL2) Green fluorescent protein (GFP) Hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate (Hrs) Homogenization Buffer (HB) Multivesicular body (MVB) Neurofibrillary tangle (NFT) Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PI3P) Plasma membrane (PM) Small hairpin ribonucleic acid (shRNA) Trans-Golgi network (TGN) Tumor susceptibility gene 101 (Tsg101) Ubiquitin conjugation factor E4 B (UBE4B) Ubiquitin-interacting motif (UIM) Vacuolar protein sorting (Vps)

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common human neurodegenerative disease (1–4). In the United States, close to 100,000 individuals die from AD every year (5) and those affected typically die within 10 years of diagnosis (6, 7). This disease manifests as progressive loss of cognitive ability and personality alterations, a process known as dementia. Despite decades of research, there is no disease-modifying therapy or diagnostic test for this insidious disease.

AD was first described by Alois Alzheimer in publication from 1902 (8). The report described a 50-year-old female named Auguste Deter who experienced worsening paranoia and cognitive decline. Upon her death, an overall reduction in brain mass was noted, as was an accumulation of material inside and around the cells of her brain. During the 20th century, additional reports of patients experiencing similar symptoms led to the recognition that AD is the most common form of dementia.

Like other neurodegenerative diseases, brains from AD patients are characterized by marked neuronal death resulting in loss of brain mass. Unlike other similar disorders, which tend to localize to specific brain regions, the loss of neurons in Alzheimer's is robust and involves most of the cortex, as well as other key brain structures thought to be involved in memory formation such as the hippocampus (9–11). Histological examination of AD patient brains has revealed accumulation of protein aggregates *inside* and *outside* of cells, as illustrated on Figure 1A.

The classical *intracellular* pathology observed in AD is called a neurofibrillary tangle (NFT), and is mostly composed of a hyperphosphorylated form of the Tau protein. Tau is a microtubule-associated protein that becomes abnormally phosphorylated in some pathological processes, like AD and other neurological disorders (12–16).

Hyperphosphorylated Tau results in neurotoxicity due to aggregation and inability to bind to cytoskeletal microtubules, which results in microtubule disassembly and cytoskeletal dysfunction (17–19). However, phosphorylated Tau is thought to be a secondary event in the development of AD for the following reasons. First, in animal models, anomalies in Tau or its phosphorylation lead to a phenotype with marked motor dysfunction (something absent in classical AD) that more closely resembles a different disease, frontotemporal dementia (FTD) (20-23). Second, Gotz et al. (24) observed that injection of a protein called amyloid beta (A β , whose role in AD will be discussed in detail later in this chapter) into the brains of a murine strain predisposed to the deposition of NFTs accelerated the formation of tangles. A study published simultaneously(25) showed that crossing a mouse predisposed to formation of Aβ with P301L mice led to accelerated formation of NFTs. Third, mice from a mutant strain predisposed to the formation of A^β have memory impairments that are dependent on the expression of Tau, although these mouse models do not form NFTs. Taumediated A β toxicity has also been observed in *in vitro* studies of neurons (26). Finally, phosphorylated Tau was observed to mediate A β toxicity in post-synaptic neurons by inducing excitotoxicity (which often leads to a seizure phenotype in AD animal models (27-29). While the controversy between these two potential etiologies for AD continues, the substantial evidence of a role for A β in human dementia merits its investigation.

The extracellular pathology most commonly associated with AD is characterized by protein aggregates known as plaques (2–4, 18). For reasons that are as yet unclear, amyloid plaques can be diffuse or dense (30), and they can form outside of neurons or inside blood vessel walls in the brain (31–34). This latter process is called cerebral amyloid angiopathy, and while it is a distinct diagnosis from AD, the two diseases can be co-morbid (34–36) and result in dementia. The protein aggregates that form plaques are composed primarily of A β (18, 37). A β was first isolated and purified in 1984 (38, 39) and is a 4.2 kDa peptide most commonly found in extracellular aggregates in the brains of AD patients (3, 18,

37, 40). A β can exist in variants of 40-46 amino acids in length, with the 42-amino acid long variant, called A β 42, being the form most prone to aggregation (41).

The mechanism underlying the neuronal toxicity of A β in the central nervous system is still under investigation. In fact, some reports have linked A β to beneficial effects in the central nervous system, including enhanced neuron survival, synaptic modulation, and protection from oxidative stress (42–45). A prevailing hypothesis in the field is that the balance of A β production and clearance is disturbed in AD (41, 46). Excess A β production has been repeatedly shown to result in synaptic dysfunction, neuroinflammation, and oxidative stress, effects that are thought to ultimately produce neuronal death (41, 47–49). Although aggregation of A β is most commonly observed outside of neurons, several studies have reported that intraneuronal accumulation of A β is toxic to cells and antecedes the appearance of overt plaques in mouse models of AD (50–53).

1.2 Amyloid Precursor Protein

The amyloid precursor protein was identified in 1987 (4, 54) as the propeptide that led to A β formation. Since its discovery, APP has been strongly implicated in dementia (3, 4, 18, 41, 55). Several lines of evidence support this idea. First, familial mutations (56–61) in this protein strongly correlate with the development of many forms of early-onset AD, and many of these mutations are shown to result in the formation of A β (62, 63). Second, the APP gene is located on chromosome 21, and patients with Down syndrome (who have a trisomy of this chromosome) have a high likelihood of developing early-onset AD (64–67). Finally, APP has been shown to be the only known protein that leads to formation of A β (68– 70).

Amyloid precursor protein (APP) is a Type-I transmembrane protein that exists as 8 isoforms (71–74) of 677-770 amino acids in length, of which the 695-amino acid variant is the most common in the human brain(75, 76). It is found in a variety of cell types (77–80),

and several physiological roles in neurons have been investigated. In neurons, APP contributes to cell adhesion (81), neurite outgrowth (82–84), synaptogenesis (85), and neuronal migration (86). Mice lacking APP have mild deficits compared to these described functions (87, 88)suggesting that APP's role in neuron physiology and normal function might be redundant with other related proteins, like the amyloid precursor-like proteins 1 and 2.

Cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP) can be amyloidogenic (leading to the formation of A β) or non-amyloidogenic (3, 89–92)(Figure 2). APP cleavage by a member of the alpha-secretase family (predominantly ADAM10)(93, 94) can occur at the plasma membrane (PM). Alpha-secretase cleavage results in the APP soluble fragment APPs α and a membrane-bound C-terminal fragment (α -stub)(3, 89, 90). Cleavage of APP by an alpha-secretase occurs in a portion of the A β sequence that renders the remaining peptides incapable of producing A β . The APPs α fragment mediates many of the described functions of full-length APP described above, such as neurite outgrowth and neuronal development (95–99). The C-terminal α -stub can be subsequently cleaved by the γ -secretase complex (composed of presenilin, nicastrin, APH-1, and PEN-2) to form the fragment P5. Interestingly, mutations in the presenilins are the most common form of inherited early-onset AD (100–102).

If APP is cleaved by the β -secretase, Beta-site APP Cleavage Enzyme 1, (BACE-1), instead of an alpha-secretase, generation of the soluble APPs β and a C-terminal fragment (β -stub, or C99) occur (103, 104). BACE-1 was first identified in 1999 by five independent groups (105–109). BACE-1 is a type-I transmembrane protein mostly expressed in the brain (3, 90, 103). BACE-1 enzyme activity has an optimal acidic pH such as is found in the Golgi and endosomes (90, 110–114). Increased expression of BACE-1 has been found in AD brains (115–117). Importantly, some familial AD-associated mutations in APP have increased susceptibility to cleavage by BACE-1(118) which then results in increased A β levels.

After BACE-1 cleavage, the β -stub can be further cleaved by the γ -secretase complex to yield the soluble A β species. The γ -secretase complex not only cleaves APP, but is essential for the cleavage of Notch, required for Notch signaling(119–121). Members of the γ -secretase complex have been localized to a variety of subcellular locations, although recent data suggests that the mature complex is mostly localized to the plasma membrane and the endosome/lysosome system(3, 122–125). For reasons that remain unclear, the γ -secretase-mediated cleavage of APP can generate A β peptides of various lengths, accounting for the variety of A β species found in AD brains(3, 126–129).

1.3 Endocytic trafficking of membrane proteins in mammalian cells

APP is synthesized and trafficked through the secretory pathway en route to the plasma membrane. In the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi apparatus, membrane proteins can be cleaved into mature variants, post-translationally modified, or removed for degradation (130–134). Many membrane proteins are inserted into the PM after trafficking through the ER/Golgi (133–137) and from there, various mechanisms (such as binding of ligands) can promote their internalization into the cell. In neurons, these events often occur as a result of synaptic activity. Once a membrane protein is internalized from the PM, it can travel in transport vesicles to endosomes. From endosomes, membrane proteins can either recycle to the PM, or can be degraded via fusion of the endosomes with the lysosome. Because the focus of this study is on the movement of APP through endosomes, the endocytic pathway will be discussed in further detail.

The protein content of the plasma membrane is constantly renewed via insertion of proteins from the biosynthetic pathway and removal of other proteins via endocytosis. This dynamic state is a key regulatory mechanism that allows cells to adapt to their environment (138–140). This is especially important for neurons, where changes in surface protein expression (e.g. levels of glutamate receptors in the membrane are regulated by insertion

and endocytosis) can underlie functional alterations such as synaptic plasticity (141–145). The residence time of APP on the plasma membrane is approximately 10 minutes (83, 146-149). After internalization, vesicles containing membrane proteins (such as APP) can fuse with each other to form early endosomes, or fuse with existing early endosomes (150–152). Endosomes are organelles of approximately 500nm in diameter(153), that carry membrane proteins from the plasma membrane onto other cellular compartments for recycling or degradation(150–152). Endosomes mature from early into late endosomes by recruiting and discarding peripheral membrane proteins from the cytosol(154–159). Early endosomes are characterized by expression of markers such as EEA1, Rab5, Rab11, and transferrin (160-163). From early endosomes, membrane proteins can bud in vesicles that can fuse with the PM or travel to secretory compartments (163, 164). Early endosomes are thought to mature into late endosomes, characterized by markers such as Lamp1, Tsg101, CD63, and Rab7 (150, 154–159). Late endosomes are formed when the limiting membrane invaginates and buds internally producing vesicles that accumulate in the endosomal lumen. The formation of these internal vesicles can occur as a result of the involvement of cytosolic proteins that bind the endosomal limiting membrane (a process that will be discussed in Section 1.5), although some studies have demonstrated that budding into the endosomal lumen can occur in the absence of such proteins, by inward budding of lipid-containing domains present on the endosomal limiting membrane (165–168). Regardless of the mechanism of internal vesicle formation, the development of late endosomes by these inward budding events also gives them their particular structure: a larger endosomal compartment containing smaller internal vesicles between 50-200nm in size (150, 152, 169–173). For this reason, the late endosome is also known as the multivesicular body (MVB) or the multivesicular endosome (MVE). MVBs can have different itineraries in cells: (a) they can be degraded upon fusion of the late endosome with the lysosome, or (b) fuse with the PM for release of its contents. If an MVB fuses with the PM, its internal vesicles are released as

exosomes into the extracellular space (174–179). Exosomes are nanovesicles of endosomal origin (178, 180–184) secreted by a wide variety of cells (178, 185–188), including neurons (189–192). After it transits to mature endosomes, APP can be degraded upon fusion of the MVB with the lysosome (68, 69, 193). However, multiple reports suggest that APP is present on exosomes (194–196) suggesting that APP may also be present on MVBs that fuse with the plasma membrane (69, 193, 196–199).

1.4 Ubiquitination of membrane proteins for endocytic trafficking

Many membrane proteins that move from early endosomes into late endosomes (particularly into the intraluminal vesicles within the late endosome) require ubiquitination to enable association with the sorting machinery at endosomes (200–204). Ubiguitin is a 76amino acid protein that can be conjugated to lysine residues of proteins as a posttranslational modification. It is highly conserved throughout eukaryotic organisms¹, and the four genes (UBI1, UBI2, UBI3, and UBI4) that contain its code are present in both mammals and yeast. The presence of polyubiquitin chains on a protein often targets that protein for proteasomal degradation (204–208). The ubiquitination of a protein occurs in a series of steps mediated by the ubiquitin activating (E1), ubiquitin conjugating (E2), and ubiquitin ligase (E3) enzymes. There are two different E1 enzymes in mammalian cells, and these covalently bind and activate ubiquitin (207, 209, 210). From there, ubiquitin is passed to the E2 enzyme, of which there are an estimated 40 different kinds (205–208, 211–213). E2 enzymes will bind ubiquitin to the substrate, with the assistance of E3 ligases. The substrate specificity of ubiquitination is mediated by E3 ligases (214–217), of which the human genome is estimated to encode more than 600 unique proteins (214–216, 218). Ubiguitination is a reversible process and ubiguitin can be removed from proteins by the activity of deubiquitinating enzymes (219–223).

Proteins can be monoubiquitinated, multiubiquitinated (one ubiquitin is placed on

various lysine residues), or polyubiquitinated (various ubiquitin molecules form a chain anchored at one residue) (224–230). In polyubiquitination, two kinds of chains are commonly described: K48-linked chains and K63-linked chains. K48-linked chains are ubiquitin chains that bind to each other at lysine 48 of the ubiquitin sequence, forming branches that can be as long as 20 molecules. K63-linked chains occur after binding of additional ubiquitin molecules to lysine 63 of ubiquitin.

The ubiquitination of a membrane protein can signal its degradation or can be a signal important for trafficking events. However, the correlation between the type of ubiquitination present on a target protein and the role of that ubiquitin for protein disposition has not been conclusively established (217, 231), although K48-linked chains have been suggested to constitute a specific signal for proteasomal degradation (202, 208, 232). Since the proteasome functions in the breaking down of cytosolic proteins, the observation that ubiquitination could occur on membrane proteins represented a challenge to the understanding of the field (206, 207, 233–236). Studies performed in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae were the first to discover that ubiquitination of some membrane proteins was a signal for their further movement down endocytic compartments (237, 238). In mammalian systems, the first evidence of the role of ubiquitin in the trafficking of membrane proteins through the endocytic pathway came from the study of tyrosine kinase receptors, that were observed to become ubiquitinated after binding of their ligands (239-242). For example, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is monoubiquitinated prior to internalization from the PM (243, 244), although ubiqutination is not required for EGFR internalization (245–248). In these studies, cellular levels of EGFRs were unaffected by pharmacological proteasome inhibitors, suggesting their ubiquitination was not a signal for proteasomal degradation. Besides EGFR, a wide variety of membrane proteins can be ubiquitinated (249, 250). and both polyubiquitin and monoubiquitination can induce membrane protein internalization into endosomes (200, 251).

1.5 Recognition and trafficking of cargo by the ESCRT complexes:

Once a membrane protein is ubiquitinated *en route* to or at endosomes, it can be recognized by a sorting machinery that assembles at the endosomal limiting membrane, known as the <u>Endosomal Sorting Complexes Required for Transport (ESCRTs) (170, 172, 248, 252–258)</u>. These proteins were discovered in a series of separate studies conducted between 1989 and 1992 by Rothman and Raymond (259–264). These investigations led to the discovery of a series of genes denominated the vacuolar protein sorting (Vps) genes. Some of the proteins encoded by these genes, denominated the ESCRT complexes, were discovered to be required for the degradation of many membrane proteins in the yeast vacuole (an organelle homologous to the mammalian endosome/lysosome) and subsequently, in mammalian endosomes (165, 203, 255, 256, 265–271).

ESCRT complexes are well conserved across eukaryotes, likely because their role in protein homeostasis at endosomes is essential for normal cell function. This is highlighted by the fact that embryonic lethality is observed in mice that contain deletions or loss-of-function mutations of various ESCRT components, such as hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate (Hrs) and the tumor susceptibility gene 101 (Tsg101) (252, 262, 272–274). As would be expected, ESCRT deletion mutants often exhibit aberrant morphology such as enlargement and decreased internal vesicle formation (173, 256, 265, 275).

There are 4 ESCRT complexes: ESCRT-0, ESCRT-I, ESCRT-II, and ESCRT-III (summarized in Figure 3). ESCRT complexes assembly on the endosomal membrane by recruitment from the cytosol. First, a member of the ESCRT-0 family, Hrs, is recruited to endosomal membranes through its membrane-lipid targeting domain FYVE(272, 276, 277), although its P/Q domain has been observed to play a role in this process (278). At endosomes, Hrs first binds membranes through interaction with phosphatidylinositol 3-

phosphate (PI3P) (256, 272, 276, 277). It can then bind to membrane proteins (often referred to as cargo) by recognizing ubiquitin with its ubiquitin-interacting motif (UIM)(251, 265). After cargo recognition, Hrs recruits other ESCRT-0 components (which help cluster targeted cargo) as well as ESCRT-I components such as Tsg101. Tsg101 can also recognize ubiquitinated cargo (166, 255, 256, 279), and also aids in the recruitment of other ESCRT-I components. ESCRT-I formation leads to recruitment of the ESCRT-II complex components (165, 203, 268). The binding of these ESCRT complexes leads to invagination of the endosomal limiting membrane toward the endosomal lumen(280) in a process that is opposite to the invaginations observed from assembly of coat proteins (257, 281). ESCRT-II is thought to recruit ESCRT-III (165, 255, 256, 268), which is believed to aid the fission of invaginated endosomal membranes (255, 264, 268). Although there are several models about how this binding of ESCRT complexes leads to invagination of membranes (255, 282), it is clear that ESCRT-0 proteins bind the ubiquitinated cargo and aid the assembly of the other ESCRT complexes.

1.6 The ubiquitin factor E4B (UBE4B) in endocytic trafficking:

The E3 ligase, UBE4B, is a ubiquitinating enzyme first described as UFD2 in yeast (283). UBE4B is part of a family of E3 ligases known as 'U-box' ligases (284–287), because they possess a 'U-box' domain that confers their ubiquitinating capacity (287–291). The 'U-Box' contains the binding site for the two E2 ligases known to bind UBE4B, UbcH5c and Ubc4 (287–292). UBE4B has at times been catalogued as a separate class of E3 ligase (also known as E4 enzymes) that, aside from aiding the ubiquitination of specific substrates as an E3 ligase, can also aid in the placement of additional ubiquitin molecules to specific substrates (289, 293).

UBE4B has been implicated in yeast survival after cell stress (284). In the adult mouse, UBE4B is predominantly expressed in neurons (285). In the brain, it has been

suggested to have a role in degeneration following axonal injury(294). UBE4B is involved in the ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of abnormal accumulations of ataxin-3, an aggregated protein that underlies spinocerebellar ataxia (292). UBE4B can also bind and decrease levels of p53, a known tumor suppressor (295). Homozygous UBE4B deficiency results in embryonic lethality in mice due to anomalies in cardiac development (289), and heterozygous UBE4B deficiency results in severe motor defects and Purkinje cell degeneration. These data suggest that UBE4B is essential for normal development of the heart, as well as maintenance of neuronal integrity in the brain.

Previous work from the Bean laboratory(296) has shown UBE4B is an endosomallyactive E3 ligase. In that study, UBE4B was recruited to endosomes by binding to the early ESCRT, Hrs, that mediates its interaction with EGFR. This study also observed that UBE4B can ubiquitinate EGFR (296). The UBE4B-mediated EGFR ubiquitination is an obligatory step in efficient movement of EGFR from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles within the mature endosome. These data highlight UBE4B as an E3 ligase with an active role at the endosome, and open the doors for the discovery of new substrates for UBE4B-mediated ubiquitination at this cellular site.

1.7 APP movement and A β production through the endocytic pathway:

While BACE-1 is expressed in many subcellular locations, only the secretory pathway and the endocytic pathway contain sufficient expression(105) and adequately low pH for optimal activity of APP by BACE-1 (103, 297). Moreover, BACE-1 and APP colocalize at both of these locations (298–306). For this reason, both of these sites have been the focus of a variety of studies seeking to identify the key location of APP cleavage into A β (3, 299, 300, 305–311). Endosomes are of particular interest as a potential site of BACE-1 mediated APP cleavage for several reasons. First, blockade of APP internalization by clathrin-mediated endocytosis from the PM (312)or by removal of the YENP endocytosis

signal (146, 313, 314) decreased A β levels in conditioned media in several studies, including studies performed in neurons (315, 316). Synaptic activity mediates APP internalization from the PM and results in increased A β secretion (315–318). Moreover, synaptic activity results in colocalization of BACE-1 and APP in endosomal compartments (299, 300). These data suggest that the endocytic itinerary of APP is a crucial location for amyloidogenic cleavage.

There is conflicting evidence for a role of ESCRTs in the sorting of APP at endosomes and the secretion of Aβ. Depletion of early ESCRT components (Hrs and Tsg101) resulted in decreased Aβ secretion in some experimental models (305, 307), whereas others (306)have found that the same manipulation results in greater Aβ secretion. If APP trafficking is ESCRT dependent, then APP must be ubiquitinated to enable ESCRT interaction, suggesting that there may be a specific E3 enzyme that ubiquitinates APP. Interestingly, the E3 ligase FBL2 ubiquitinates APP resulting in proteosomal degradation (319), although the differences in ubiquitination requirements likely mean that a different E3 enzyme is required for endosomal trafficking. In this regard, our preliminary data suggest a role for the endosome-associated E3 ubiquitin ligase, UBE4B, in the degradation of APP.

1.8 Hypothesis statement:

This study investigated my hypothesis (Figure 1D) that under non-pathogenic conditions, trafficking of full-length APP into the MVB is dependent on a specific E3 ligase, UBE4B, and the ESCRT machinery. Disruptions in MVB trafficking that delay APP sorting may result in amyloidogenic processing of APP.



Figure 1A. Pathological findings in Alzheimer's disease (AD). (A) Accumulation of intracellular neurofibrillary tangles and extracellular amyloid plaques leads to neuronal dysfunction and death in AD. (B) Current understanding of the diseases processes behind AD suggests that these toxic accumulations lead to neuronal degeneration and death, as shown by decreased mass in affected brains.



Figure 1B. Processing of the amyloid precursor protein (APP). Amyloid precursor protein can be cleaved in two main pathways. In the non-amyloidogenic cleavage, APP is cleaved into APPsα, secreted into the extracellular space, and the α-stub. This cleavage occurs through the Aβ sequence, precluding amyloid production after alpha-secretase cleavage. The stub is further cleaved by the gamma secretase complex into the amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain (AICD) and P3. In amyloidogenic cleavage, APP cleavage by a beta-secretase (BACE-1 in the brain), leading to generation of APPsβ (released into the cytosol) and the β-stub, C99 (which faces vesicular lumens). Further cleavage by the gamma secretase complex and Aβ. The subcellular site where this occurs is a matter of controversy and is the subject of this dissertation.



Figure 1C. Summary of ESCRT proteins involved in the endocytic trafficking of mammalian membrane proteins. ESCRTs are classified as 4 complexes in both mammals and yeast, and their metazoan names are illustrated in this schematic. ESCRT complexes sequentially bind ubiquitinated membrane proteins at the endosomal limiting membrane. These interactions are thought to mediate the necessary changes in membrane curvature that allow budding of vesicles containing membrane proteins into the endosomal lumen. Adapted from (255).



Figure 1D. Illustration of endocytic APP trafficking in neurons. (A) APP traffics through endosomes in neurons, and this is an important site of amyloidogenic cleavage (Das 2016, Morel 2013). (B) In physiological trafficking of APP through endosomes, the full-length protein is moved into internal vesicles of the maturing endosome through engagement of cytosolic proteins. When this trafficking is altered, APP can get cleaved by the secretases at the endosomal limiting membrane into A β , which will accumulate in the endosomal lumen.

Chapter 2. METHODS

2.1 Materials— Antibodies were purchased from the following commercial sources: C-terminal APP (Sigma, A8717; 5ug/mL for immunoblotting, IB; 50ug/mL for immunocytochemistry, ICC), N-terminal APP (Clone 22C11, Millipore; 10ug/mL for ICC), mouse and rabbit MAP2 (MAB3418 and AB5622, Millipore; 5ug/mL); Rab7 (D95F2 for ICC, for IB; Cell Signaling), EEA1 (2.5 ug/uL for ICC, 0.25ug/ml for IB; Thermo Fisher), BACE-1 (1ug/mL; Cell Signaling), Flotillin (Abcam), Alix (0.29 ug/ml; Abcam), Actin (0.3 ug/ml; Millipore), UBE4B (0.3 ug/ml; Abcam), Ubiquitin (1 ug/ul; Enzo), Hrs (1 ug/ul; Axxora). Chemical reagents were purchased from various sources: GW4869 (Cayman Chemical), β-Secretase Inhibitor IV – CAS 797035-11-1 (also known as C3; Millipore Sigma), and antifade DAPI mounting media (Life Technologies).

2.2 DNA/RNA Constructs—Short hairpin RNAs directed against UBE4B (CCGGTGGACCAACTGACGGATATTTCTCGAGAAATATCCGTCAGTTGGTCCATTTTTG; TRCN0000338294) and a scrambled shRNA (CCGGCAACAAGATGAAGAGCACCAACTCGAGTTGGTGCTCTTCATCTTGTTGTTT; SHC002) were purchased from Mission® shRNA (Sigma).

2.3 Mammalian Cell Culture— TLA-HEK 293T cells (ATCC) were maintained at 37°C in 5% CO₂, with DMEM (Life Technologies) and10% FBS (Sigma), and passaged using 0.05 % trypsin/EDTA.

2.4 Primary Neuron Culture—Primary cortical neurons were obtained from E17-18 rat embryos as described (321, 322). Briefly, cortical brain tissue was extracted from rat embryonic brains, dissected on ice, enzymatically dissociated, and seeded (8 million cells)

on 100 mm² plates coated with 50ug/mL Poly-D-Lysine (Millipore). Neurons were maintained with Neurobasal Media (Life Technologies), 2% B27 (Life Technologies), 1% Glutamax (Life Technologies), and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin (Sigma) under 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Media was replenished every 4 days. Experiments were carried out using neurons that had been cultured for 5-7 days *in vitro* unless otherwise specified.

2.5 Immunocytochemistry—Neurons (1x10⁶) were plated on coverslips coated with Poly-D-Lysine. After 5 days in culture, neurons were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (15 min at room temperature) and treated with 100mM glycine in PBS (10 min). Fixed neurons were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 (10 min), and blocked with 10% normal goat serum in PBS (60 min). Fixed neurons were incubated with primary antibodies (overnight at 4°C), washed 3x with PBS, and incubated with secondary antibodies (60 min at room temperature). Slides were washed 3x with PBS and mounted using anti-fade DAPI mounting media (Life Technologies). Neurons were examined using a TCS SPE microscope-camera (Leica).

2.6 Discontinuous sucrose gradient for endosome enrichment— Endosomally-enriched fractions were obtained from neuron lysates by fractionation using a discontinuous sucrose gradient, as described (323, 324). Briefly, after 5-7 days *in vitro* (DIV) neurons were washed with PBS, and gently scraped from the plate using a rubber cell scraper. Neurons were collected by centrifugation (1500 x g for 5 min) and resuspended in homogenization buffer (HB; 20 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 0.25 M sucrose, 2 mM EGTA, 2 mM EDTA, and 0.1 mM DTT) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (112 μ M leupeptin, 3 μ M aproptinin, 112 μ M PMSF, and 17 μ M pepstatin). Neurons were lysed by passage through a 22-g needle 20 times, or until 80% of cells were lysed as demonstrated by assessing trypan blue exclusion. Post-nuclear supernatant (PNS) was obtained by centrifugation of lysed cells (2000 x g for 10

min). The concentration of sucrose in PNS was adjusted to 40.6% and PNS (440 μ L) was loaded at the bottom of a 2ml ultracentrifugation tube and overlaid with three layers of sucrose: 35% sucrose (660 μ L), 25% sucrose (440 μ L), and 8% sucrose (500 μ L). All sucrose-containing solutions also contained imidazole (3mM) and EDTA (1mM, pH 7.4). The gradient was centrifuged (150,000 x g for 60 min, model TLS55; Beckman Coulter). After centrifugation, 200uL fractions were collected from the top of the gradient (10 steps per gradient). Fractions were diluted using at least 1:1 in HB and membranes were pelleted by centrifugation (150,000xg for 30 min). A summary of the steps of this gradient, and a sample gradient after centrifugation is shown in Figure 2A.

2.7 Cytosol preparation— <u>Mammalian cytosol:</u> Rat brain cytosol was produced as described (Sun, JCB 2003). For cytosol prepared from rat cortical neurons, neurons were scraped and centrifuged (2000 x *g* for 5 min at 4 °C). This neuron pellet was resuspended in homogenization buffer (HB; described above) with protease inhibitors (112 μ M PMSF, 3 μ M aprotinin, 112 μ M leupeptin, 17 μ M pepstatin), and sonicated 3 times (8 pulses of 1 second at output control 2; Branson Sonifier 250, VWR Scientific). The resulting lysate was centrifuged (2000 x *g* for 10 min at 4°C) and the supernatant was further centrifuged (100,000 x *g* for 60 min at 4°C). The supernatant was collected as cytosol and protein concentrations were calculated using a BCA assay (Pierce).

<u>Yeast cytosol</u>: Saccharomyces cerevisiae deletion strains (Dharmacon) were plated on YPD plates (20 g/L bactopeptone, 10g/L yeast extract, 16 g/L agar, 2% dextrose) with G418 (500 μ g/mL), and incubated overnight at 30°C. The parental strain was cultured without antibiotic. Colonies were inoculated in YPD media (5 mL) and incubated overnight on a shaker at 30°C. A secondary culture of YPD media (50 mL) was inoculated with the overnight culture and grown until OD₆₀₀ reached 0.8-1.0. Cells were collected (3000 x *g* for 10 min) and washed with ddH₂O, followed by TP buffer (20 mM Tris, pH 7.9; 0.5 mM EDTA;

10% glycerol; 50 mM NaCl, 112 μ M leupeptin, 3 μ M aproptinin, 112 μ M PMSF, and 17 μ M pepstatin). The final pellet was resuspended in 100 μ L of TP buffer. Cells were lysed using glass beads. Lysate was centrifuged (3000 x *g* for 10 min), and the supernatant was collected and further centrifuged (100,000 x g for 60 min) to collect cytosol. Protein concentrations were calculated using a BCA assay (Pierce). The supernatant was divided into 160 μ g aliquots and stored at -80 °C.

2.8 Immunoprecipitation and Immunodepletion— For co-immunoprecipitation experiments, neurons were collected using a rubber scraper, followed by centrifugation (1500 x g for 5 mins). Neurons were lysed using RIPA Buffer (10 mM Tris-Cl pH 8, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-1000, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 140 mM NaCl) containing protease inhibitors (60 min at 4°C with end-over-end rotation) followed by centrifugation (20,000 x g for 10min). For immunodepletion experiments, rat brain cytosol was isolated from lysate that was centrifuged (100,000xg for 60min). Cytosol was then incubated with 1 μ g of antibody per 100 μ g of cytosol with the addition of a protease inhibitor cocktail (overnight with end-over-end rotation). Samples were subsequently incubated with washed protein A agarose beads (15 μ L) for 4h at 4°C. Following brief centrifugation (1000 x g for 3 seconds) to separate beads from supernatant, immunodepleted supernatant was collected for use in cell-free endosomal reconstitution assays (described below). For immunoprecipitation, beads were washed (3x with 1X PBS) prior to resuspension in sample buffer and immunoblotting.

2.9 Cell-free endosomal reconstitution assay—A summary of this assay is presented in Figure 2B. Reconstitution of endosomal maturation (and formation of inwardly-budded vesicles) was performed as previously described (173, 296, 325), with some modifications. Briefly, early endosomes from primary neurons were obtained from a discontinuous sucrose

gradient (described above), and resuspended in HB. Each reaction (50 μ L) contained endosomal membranes, mammalian cytosol (75 μ g) or yeast cytosol (160 μ g), and an ATP regeneration system (2 mM MgATP, 50 μ g/mL creatine kinase, 8 mM phosphocreatine and 1mM). Reactions were incubated (3 hours at 37°C) prior to analysis (as below).

For experiments examining the movement of full-length APP into the endosomal lumen, reactions (as above) were followed by trypsin-treatment (10 µl of 0.25 µg/µL trypsin; 30 min at 4°C) and centrifugation (20,000 x *g*; 30 min at 4°C). Supernatant was aspirated and pellet was resuspended in sample buffer for immunoblotting. Resultant blots were probed with an antibody that recognizes the C-terminal epitope APP (Sigma). For experiments examining the generation of Aβ42, reactions were centrifuged (20,000xg for 30 min at 4°C) and pellets were resuspended in HB for analysis by ELISA.

Western blot densitometry was quantitated using Image J (NIH). For analysis of experiments using yeast cytosol, quantitation of immunoblot bands from deletion strains were normalized to bands obtained in reactions containing parental control. For analysis of experiments using mammalian cytosol, quantitation of immunoblot bands from reactions using depleted or transfected cytosol were normalized to immunoblot bands obtained in reactions containing IgG-treated cytosol.

In experiments involving C3 (also known as β -Secretase Inhibitor IV – CAS 797035-11-1), endosomal membranes were treated with drug (20uM) or vehicle for 15 minutes at 37°C, prior to use in reactions containing cytosol and ATP regeneration system.

2.10 Cell transfection and lentivirus production—TLA-HEK 293T cells were transfected with third-generation lentiviral packaging plasmids (pMLg/pRRE, pRSV-Rev, pMD2.g; Addgene) and target DNA using Lipofectamine 3000 (Life Technologies), according to manufacturer's instructions. After 48 hours, media containing virus was passed through a 0.22um PVDF filter (VWR) and applied to neurons. After 24 hours, virus was removed and

conditioned media (media that has been previously exposed to neurons, and as such, contains secreted factors that might aid neuronal survival in culture) added to neurons. For experiments in which exosome production was measured after lentiviral transduction, conditioned media was centrifuged (150,000 x g for 2 hours), passed through a 0.22um filter, and warmed to 37°C prior to addition to neuronal cultures.

2.11 Immunoblotting— Samples were separated using SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Genesee). All primary antibodies were incubated overnight at 4°C, and all secondary antibodies were incubated for 60 min at room temperature. Membranes were incubated with ECL 2 (Pierce) and developed using a Typhoon FLA 7000 (GE).

2.12 ELISA— The murine A β 42 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Life Technologies) was used according to manufacturer's instructions. For analysis of endosomal A β 42, endosomal membranes generated from each reaction of the cell-free assay were sonicated (2 x 10 pulses) and loaded onto the bottom of an ELISA well. Each experiment was performed at least 3 times. For experiments measuring A β 42 secretion, 100µL of conditioned media was loaded onto wells and each sample was measured in duplicate. Each experiment was performed at least 3 times.

2.13 Statistical Analysis—For the comparison of two means, a paired t-test was performed for the determination of significance. For the comparison of three or more means, a one-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey test was used to determine significance. A *p*-value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant with an n=>3.



Figure 2A. Discontinuous sucrose gradient for separation of endosomal subpopulations in primary cortical neurons. Post-nuclear supernatant was loaded at the bottom of a discontinuous sucrose gradient. After ultracentrifugation (150,000 x g for 60 min) interfaces accumulate material that corresponds to endosomal subpopulations.



Figure 2B. Schematic of the cell-free endosomal maturation assay. After obtaining an enriched population of early endosomes from a discontinuous sucrose gradient, the location of APP on these endosomes can be determined via susceptibility to trypsin cleavage. (a) Early endosomes from primary cortical neurons contain APP, as shown by immunoblot. (b) Treatment of early endosomes with trypsin results in a loss of APP immunoreactivity, suggesting APP is localized on the limiting membrane of these endosomes. (c) In our cell-free assay, early endosomes are incubated with cytosol and an ATP regeneration system, that supports the formation of internal vesicles within endosomes. If APP is transported into internal vesicles it will be protected from protease treatment and APP will be visible on immunoblot.

Chapter 3. Endogenously Expressed Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) is localized on neuronal endosomes

Rationale: Pathological cleavage of APP into A β fragments underlies the plaque pathology that is a hallmark of Alzheimer's Disease. While we understand much about the enzymes involved in APP cleavage(3, 4, 89), the cellular location of these cleavage events is unclear. There is considerable evidence suggesting that endosomes may be the location of pathologic APP cleavage. However, APP trafficking through endosomes is the subject of significant controversy in the scientific literature. In particular, the cytosolic requirements for APP movement from early to late endosomes and the implications of this movement for pathogenic processing are unclear. To address this scientific problem, I chose to use a cellular model, cultured primary cortical neurons, that is both physiologically relevant for Alzheimer's Disease and is tractable for mechanistic examination. In this chapter, I address the characterization of this model.

APP trafficking through endosomes has been observed in a variety of cell types, (194, 300, 305–307, 315). However, many of the published experiments examining APP trafficking have employed approaches including overexpression of exogenous APP or examination of trafficking events in heterologous non-neuronal cells. These experiments have greatly contributed to our understanding of APP movement through subcellular compartments, but it is unclear whether the results obtained are comparable to the itinerary of endogenous APP in neurons. To begin my approach of this scientific question, I examined whether endogenous APP is expressed in neurons in my preparation (cultured primary cortical neurons from E17 rat pup brains) at the time in culture when I would be investigating endosomal trafficking. Using immunocytochemistry and two different APP antibodies (Figure 3A), I observed that APP is expressed primarily in neurons (as shown by colocalization of APP with the neuronal marker, MAP2).
After establishing that APP was expressed in cultured neurons, I investigated whether APP is colocalized with endosomal markers in the absence of exogenous stimuli. I immunolabeled neurons using APP antibodies, as well as antibodies against endosomal marker proteins early endosomal antigen 1 (EEA1, a marker of early endosomes) and Rab7 (a small GTPase that identifies late endosomal compartments). I observed that APP could be localized to distinct puncta that also contained one or another of these markers (Figure 3B).

Because I was interested in examining the movement of APP through the endosomal pathway, I next determined whether early and late endosomal compartments from cultured neurons could be separated using velocity gradients, and whether APP would fractionate with endosomal markers in these preparations. Discontinuous sucrose gradients have been used extensively in the literature to separate fractions enriched in early and late endosomes (323, 324, 326). Using this technique, separation of post-nuclear supernatant derived from primary cortical neurons resulted in two major peaks (Figure 3C). The density of both endosomal peaks corresponds to reported values for the density of early and late endosoms in which both early and late endosomal markers have increased immunoreactivity. The peak observed in fractions 4 and 5 corresponds to lighter fractions in which both early and late endosomal markers have increased immunoreactivity. The peak observed in fractions 4 and 5 corresponds to lighter fractions in which both early and late endosomal markers have increased immunoreactivity. The peak observed in fractions 8 and 9 corresponds to more dense fractions where there is a peak in immunoreactivity for the EEA1 early endosomal marker. APP is enriched in both early and mixed endosomal peaks, although the APP-cleaving secretases BACE-1 and PS1 (a component of the gamma-secretase complex) are only enriched in the mixed endosomal fractions.

The Bean Laboratory has developed and characterized a cell-free endosomal reconstitution assay to investigate the movement of transmembrane proteins through endosomes (173, 296, 325). This approach examines the movement of a membrane protein from the limiting endosomal membrane into the internal endosomal vesicles that

corresponds to a critical step in which the cell determines whether a protein will be: (1) degraded in the lysosome, (2) become embedded in the lysosomal membrane, or (3) bud from the endosomal membrane for transport to other cellular compartments. In this approach, protease protection is used to follow the fate of an intracellular epitope of membrane proteins. Thus, when a transmembrane protein invaginates from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles within the endosomal lumen, it becomes inaccessible to the trypsin protease therefore assessing whether a membrane protein has entered the endosome lumen (refer to Figure 2B in Chapter 2). The movement of APP into endosomes renders its C-terminal tail inaccessible to trypsin, while APP residing on the endosomal membrane is susceptible to trypsin cleavage. Protection of the APP C-terminal tail would happen as APP moves from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles.

We examined how accessible an APP C-terminal epitope was to trypsin treatment on endosomes that had been separated using a discontinuous sucrose gradient. We hypothesized that in the early endosome, APP would be localized on the endosomal limiting membrane, suggesting that its C-terminal tail would be facing the exterior of the vesicle and would be cleaved by trypsin treatment. However, on the late endosome, we hypothesized that APP would have moved from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles within the mature endosome, and the APP C-terminal epitope would be inaccessible to trypsin.

We observed that APP was present on fractions enriched with early endosomes, and upon treatment by trypsin, immunoreactivity to APP using a C-terminal antibody was eliminated (Figure 3D). This suggested that the C-termini of most of the APP molecules present on early endosomes were exposed to the protease and that APP was therefore mostly residing on the limiting membrane of early endosomes. Interestingly, APP was also present on mixed endosomal fractions (that contain both early and late endosomes).

However, C-terminal APP immunoreactivity was not reduced by trypsin treatment on mixed endosomal fractions suggesting that the C-terminal of APP molecules on late endosomes was protected from proteolysis, perhaps because a large fraction of these APP molecules were already within the internal vesicles of late endosomes.

These results suggest that endogenous APP is present in cultured primary cortical neurons and that endosomal fractions from these neurons can be separated and used in cell-free reconstitution reactions to investigate the mechanisms by which APP travels from the limiting endosomal membrane into internal vesicles, a critical step in determining the fate of the APP that transits this pathway.



Figure 3A. Endogenous APP is expressed in cultured rat cortical neurons.

Cultured neurons were stained with fluorescent antibodies against APP, MAP2 (a neuronal marker), and DAPI (a nuclear stain), as shown by the first three panels A and B. The last panel is a merged image of all fluorescent channels. (A) Cells present in the preparation were stained for both DAPI and MAP2 (rabbit antibody, Millipore). Most of the staining for APP (mouse antibody, Millipore) colocalizes with MAP2, suggesting the APP present in our culture is primarily expressed in neurons. (B) A different set of antibodies (rabbit anti-APP, Sigma; mouse anti-MAP2, Millipore) against the same target proteins reveal a similar result as in Panel A. Scale bar = 25 µm. *The data shown in this figure was performed in collaboration with Francisco Rivera-Milián.*



Figure 3B. Endogenous APP colocalizes with endosomal markers in primary cortical neurons at steady state. Neurons were fixed and stained with APP (first panel), endosomal markers (second panel), and the nuclear stain DAPI (third panel). The fourth panel represents a merged image of all fluorescent channels. Arrows mark distinct punctae where endosomal markers colocalize with APP. (A) EEA1 is an early endosomal marker that colocalizes with endogenous APP at steady state. (B) Rab7 is a late endosomal marker that colocalizes with endogenous APP at steady state. Scale bar = 10um. *The data shown in this figure was performed in collaboration with Francisco Rivera-Milián.*



Figure 3C. Enrichment of endosomal subpopulations from cortical neurons through discontinuous sucrose gradient. Post-nuclear supernatant was loaded onto a discontinuous 8-40.6% sucrose gradient and centrifuged. Fractions were immunoblotted for endosomal markers (EEA1 for early endosomes and Rab7 for late endosomes), APP, and APP-modifying enzymes BACE1 and presenilin 1 (PS1, a component of the gammasecretase complex). Refractive index (RI) and calculated density of each fraction is reported at the bottom. A mixed endosomal peak was observed at fractions 4 and 5 (as shown by immunoreactivity to both EEA1 and Rab7), and an early endosomal peak was observed at fractions 8 and 9 (as shown by immunoreactivity to EEA1).



Figure 3D. APP localization on endosomes can be assessed by protease protection. Endosomal subpopulations were obtained from post-nuclear supernatant extracted from primary neurons, as described observed in Figure 3C. Untreated mixed endosomal fractions were analyzed via immunoblotting for presence of APP (lane 1). Upon treatment with trypsin, a protease, APP immunoreactivity persisted in this fraction (lane 2), suggesting APP is localized in a compartment inaccessible to trypsin (such as internal vesicles within the late endosome). Early endosome fractions were also analyzed for presence of APP (lane 3). Upon protease treatment, APP immunoreactivity was abolished (lane 4), suggesting APP in these endosomes is localized to a site accessible to trypsin, such as the endosomal limiting membrane. This experiment is representative of an experiment performed at least 3 times.

Chapter 4. Inward budding of endogenous APP into the mature endosome lumen

Rationale: From the endosomal limiting membrane, transmembrane proteins can travel to different cellular destinations. The canonical route taken by membrane proteins involves movement from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles within the maturing endosome. Following transit into internal vesicles, membrane proteins can be degraded upon endosome-lysosome fusion or can be exported outside of the cell upon endosome-plasma membrane fusion. For membrane proteins to move from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles, cytosolic machinery is often required to sort proteins destined for internal vesicles from those that will remain on the limiting membrane. This movement of APP from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles has been suggested by others (305–307) to be a key location for amyloidogenic cleavage of APP. My previous results (Chapter 3) showed that APP is present on endosomes and that it is susceptible to protease cleavage on early, but not late endosomes suggesting that I could examine the requirements for endosomal APP trafficking, as well as how alterations in this trafficking might affect the fate of APP.

To investigate the mechanisms of endogenous APP trafficking from the endosomal limiting membrane into endosome lumen, I used a cell-free reconstitution assay previously characterized by the Bean laboratory (173, 296, 325). This assay relies on protease protection of cargo to examine movement of proteins (173, 328, 329), and it recapitulates endosomal maturation including accumulation of internal vesicles, the movement of membrane proteins from the limiting endosomal membrane into internal vesicles, and the dependence of membrane protein movement into internal vesicles on the cytosolic

machinery known as <u>Endosomal Sorting Complexes Required for Transport (ESCRTs)</u> (173, 296).

To confirm APP movement from the limiting endosomal membrane to internal vesicles, I separated early endosomes on a velocity gradient and incubated the early endosomes with rat brain cytosol or cytosol isolated from a parental *S. cerevisiae* (yeast) strain and an ATP regenerating system (Figure 4A). Inclusion of either mammalian or yeast cytosol in the reconstitution reactions was required to protect the APP C-terminal epitope from trypsin cleavage, suggesting that cytosolic components are necessary for the movement of APP from the endosomal membrane into internal vesicles.

As summarized in the Introduction, the requirement of ESCRT machinery for the endosomal trafficking of APP is unclear. In particular, there is conflicting data on the role of early (ESCRT 0 and I) and late (ESCRT II and III) ESCRT complexes on APP trafficking (305, 307). In particular, deletion of early ESCRT components have been observed to both increase (306) and decrease (305, 307) amyloid production and secretion. I employed the cell-free reconstitution approach (as described in Figure 2B of Chapter 2) to directly determine whether ESCRT proteins are involved in APP movement from the endosomal membrane into its lumen.

The capability of yeast cytosol to support APP movement into internal vesicles within endosomes allowed me to screen a yeast deletion library for proteins that might be required for the movement of APP from the limiting endosomal membrane into internal vesicles. I observed that components of all 4 ESCRT complexes are necessary for efficient APP movement into internal vesicles (Figures 4B, 4C). Thus, absence of ESCRT components from each of the four ESCRT complexes resulted in significant decreases in the protease protection of the C-terminal APP epitope, suggesting that these components are required for efficient movement of APP from the limiting endosomal membrane into the endosome lumen (Figure 4C).

The production of A β fragments is affected after deletion of ESCRT components, although previous studies did not address whether A β production in the absence of ESCRT components was endosomal (305–307). I investigated whether absence of ESCRT components affects endosomal production of A β 42 within endosomes isolated from cultured neurons that had been used in the cell-free assay. Because of the limited endosomes obtained from each neuron, and the sensitivity limit of the ELISA, our assay does not allow for assessment of multiple A β species from one sample. I focused on the A β 42 species of APP cleavage product because of its reported increased pathogenicity and aggregation potential (41), compared to A β 40, the other most common form of amyloid found in the human brain.

Using the cell-free approach, with cytosol isolated from yeast strains lacking individual ESCRT components, I measured levels of endosomal Aβ42 following incubation of endosomal membranes with yeast cytosol lacking individual ESCRT components. I observed that Aβ42 levels were significantly increased in the absence of both early and late ESCRT components (Figure 4D), conditions that also resulted in decreased movement of APP into internal vesicles (see Figure 4C).

I next examined whether immunodepletion of ESCRT components from mammalian cytosol would also affect endosomal Aβ42 levels. In particular, I wanted to understand whether deletion of an early ESCRT component affected APP trafficking, as the role of early ESCRT components in APP trafficking have been observed to both increase and decrease Aβ production and secretion (305–307). To this end, I immune-depleted rat brain cytosol of the mammalian early ESCRT, Hrs, and employed this cytosol in our cell-free endosomal reconstitution assay. I confirmed the depletion of Hrs using immunoblotting (Figure 4E). I incubated Hrs-depleted cytosol with APP-containing early endosomes in the cell-free endosome maturation assay and observed that the protease protection of APP was significantly reduced in Hrs-depleted conditions compared to IgG-treated cytosol (Figure

4F). Using a similar experimental design, I used endosomes in reactions with Hrs-depleted and control (IgG treated) cytosols and examined A β 42 production. Interestingly, A β 42 production was dramatically increased in the absence of Hrs (Figure 4G).

The results from these experiments suggest that ESCRT complexes may assist in the trafficking of APP through endosomes and confirm that absence of early and late ESCRT components result in increased Aβ42 accumulation in the endosomal lumen.



Figure 4A. APP movement from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles is mediated by cytosolic components. Early endosomes were isolated from rat cortical neurons using velocity gradients, as described (see Chapter 2), and incubated with cytosol isolated from yeast or rat brain. (A) Immunoblotting of early endosome fractions demonstrates that this fraction contains APP protein (lane 1). Treatment with trypsin results in the loss of APP immunoreactivity (lane 2), suggesting APP is present on the endosomal limiting membrane. Incubation of early endosomes with parental yeast cytosol results in persistent APP immunoreactivity despite trypsin treatment (lane 3). This suggests that cytosolic components can induce the movement of APP into trypsin-resistant compartments, such as the endosomal lumen. (B) As in A, APP is present on early endosomal membranes (lane 1), and is susceptible to trypsinization (lane 2). Incubation with rat brain cytosol results in persistent APP immunoreactivity despite trypsin treatment (lane 3), suggesting that rat brain cytosol also supports movement of APP into internal vesicles.

Name	ESCRT Mammalian Homolog	ESCRT Complex	Genotype	Source
BY4741	*parental strain		MATa his3∆1 leu2∆0 ura3∆0 met15∆0	Dharmacon
∆hse1	STAM1,2	ESCRT-0	MATa his3Δ1 leu2Δ0 ura3Δ0 met15Δ0 hse::KANMX6	Dharmacon
Δvps23	Tsg101	ESCRT-I	MATa his3Δ1 leu2Δ0 ura3Δ0 lys2Δ0 vps23::KANMX6	Dharmacon
∆snf8	Vps22/EAP30	ESCRT-II	MATa his3Δ1 leu2Δ0 ura3Δ0 lys2Δ0 snf8::KANMX6	Dharmacon
Δvps24	CHMP3	ESCRT-III	MATa his3Δ1 leu2Δ0 ura3Δ0 lys2Δ0 vps24::KANMX6	Dharmacon

Figure 4B. Yeast deletion strains used to examine the role of ESCRT machinery in

APP endosomal trafficking. This table summarizes the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* deletion strains for ESCRT components used in this study.



Figure 4C. Efficient trafficking of full-length APP depends on components of all 4 ESCRT complexes. Early endosomal membranes containing APP were obtained using velocity gradients (see Figure 2C of Chapter 2). Endosomal membranes were incubated with cytosol isolated from yeast strains lacking ESCRT components (Δ Hse for ESCRT-0, Δ Vps23 for ESCRT-I, Δ Snf8 for ESCRT-II, and Δ Vps24 for ESCRT-III). Cytosol isolated from a parental yeast strain served as a reaction control. For these experiments, n=4 and (*) denotes p<0.05.



Figure 4D. Absence of early and late ESCRT components leads to increased Aβ42

production. Early endosomes containing APP were isolated with from velocity gradients and incubated with yeast cytosol isolated from yeast strains lacking an early ESCRT component (Δ Hse) or a late ESCRT component (Δ Snf8). After incubation, endosomes were collected and analyzed via ELISA for A β 42 levels. The amount of A β 42 present in endosomes following reactions containing cytosol from each deletion condition was normalized to the A β 42 level obtained in a reaction containing cytosol isolated from a parental yeast control. For these experiments, n=4 and (*) denotes p<0.05.



Figure 4E. Immunodepletion of Hrs from rat brain cytosol. Rat brain cytosol was prepared as previously described (173). Hrs was immunoprecipitated from cytosol, and equal amounts of cytosol were separated using SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted using anti-Hrs antibody.



Figure 4F. Depletion of Hrs significantly reduces APP movement into endosomal internal vesicles. Rat brain cytosol was immunodepleted of Hrs (see Figure 4E) and incubated with APP-containing early endosomes obtained from velocity gradients. After incubation and trypsin treatment, APP levels are significantly decreased in the Δ Hrs condition, suggesting that Hrs is required for efficient movement of APP into internal vesicles within the endosomal lumen. For these experiments, n=3 and p=0.025.



Figure 4G. Absence of Hrs results in significantly increased A β 42 in endosomes.

APP-containing early endosomal membranes were incubated with cytosol that had been immunodepleted using anti-Hrs antibodies (see Figure 4E). After cell-free endosomal reconstitution reactions resulting endosomal membranes were recollected and analyzed by ELISA for A β 42 levels. For these experiments, n=3, p=0.02.

Chapter 5. UBE4B is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that binds to, ubiquitinates APP and mediates efficient APP trafficking on endosomes

Rationale: My data, along with the work of other groups, suggests a role for ESCRT proteins in the endosomal trafficking of APP. However, it is thought that ESCRT recognizes ubiquitinated cargo at the endosomal membrane. If so, APP must be ubiquitinated at this cellular location by a specific E3 ligase. I examined a candidate enzyme, UBE4B, and show that it affects APP trafficking at endosomes. My work suggests that UBE4B is a specific ligase that ubiquitinates APP at endosomes.

To determine whether APP can be ubiquitinated at steady state in cultured cortical neurons I immunoprecipitated APP and observed that it is ubiquitinated (Figure 5A). I hypothesized that endosomally localized E3 ubiquitin ligases might be potential APP modifying enzymes that could affect APP trafficking at endosomes. In collaboration with Drs. Ritika Tewari, Monica Goss and Ting Wang we observed that one of these endosomally localized E3 ubiquitin ligases, UBE4B, co-immunoprecipitates with APP (Figure 5B) from neurons suggesting that APP and UBE4B can bind to each other.

To further elucidate the relationship between APP and UBE4B, I obtained SK-N-AS (a neuroblastoma cell line) that overexpressed UBE4B from another member of the lab, David Savage. I observed that SK-N-AS cells expressing increased UBE4B possessed significantly decreased levels of APP (Figure 5C) suggesting that there may be a relationship between UBE4B expression and APP stability.

I next used an shRNA against UBE4B in neurons to determine whether depletion of UBE4B would alter neuronal APP levels. The efficiency of lentiviral delivery was confirmed by infection of neurons with a virus containing GFP (Figure 5D). I then used this strategy to deliver an shRNA targeted toward UBE4B and a control shRNA containing a scrambled sequence. I observed that the shRNA containing a UBE4B target sequence resulted in

UBE4B protein depletion and decreased levels of APP in neuron lysate (Figure 5E), compared to the scrambled shRNA.

To assess whether UBE4B levels affected the state of APP ubiquitination in cortical neurons, I immunoprecipitated APP from neurons that had been treated with scrambled shRNA or shRNA against UBE4B. I observed that absence of UBE4B led to significantly decreased levels of APP ubiquitination (Figure 5F).

To determine whether UBE4B affects endosomal APP trafficking, I immunodepleted UBE4B from rat brain cytosol (Figure 5G) and used this cytosol in reactions containing early endosomes. Interestingly, immunodepletion of UBE4B did not significantly affect other endosomally associated cytosolic proteins that are known to bind UBE4B, such as Hrs (Figure 5H). Incubation of endosomes with UBE4B-depleted cytosol resulted in significantly decreased protease protection of the C-terminal epitope of APP compared to IgG-treated control cytosol (Figure 5I). These data suggest that UBE4B can ubiquitinate APP and that movement of APP into internal vesicles within the maturing endosome cannot occur efficiently in the absence of UBE4B.

I next examined whether incubation of endosomes with UBE4B-depleted cytosol resulted in increased endosomal Aβ42 levels (Figure 5J). The increase observed was comparable to the Aβ42 increase observed when the early ESCRT Hrs was depleted in a similar experiment (See Chapter 4). To confirm that the Aβ42 was produced at endosomes during our cell-free assay, I performed cell-free reactions that included endosomes and the UBE4B-depleted cytosol, in the presence and absence of the BACE inhibitor, C3. I observed that reactions performed in the presence of the BACE1 inhibitor resulted in significantly decreased levels of Aβ42 compared to the amount of Aβ42 generated in the absence of this drug (Figure 5K). These data suggest that absence of UBE4B leaves APP more susceptible to cleavage by BACE-1, potentially due to increased time spent on the endosomal limiting membrane.



Figure 5A. APP is ubiquitinated at steady-state in primary cortical neurons. (A) APP was immunoprecipitated from neuron lysate (Lane 1). As a control, neuron lysate was incubated with a non-specific IgG control (Lane 2). (B) Ubiquitin co-immunoprecipitated with APP (Lane 1) but not with a nonspecific IgG (Lane 2). Together, these data suggest APP is ubiquitinated at steady state in primary cortical neurons.



Figure 5B. UBE4B co-immunoprecipitates with APP. Using lysate from the neuron-like cell line SK-N-AS, UBE4B was immunoprecipitated. Loaded material is shown in Lane 1. On immunoblotting, APP is shown to co-immunoprecipitate with UBE4B (Lane 2), but not with an IgG-treated control (Lane 3). *Experiments performed in conjunction with Dr. Ritika Tewari.*



Figure 5C. Overexpression of UBE4B leads to decreased APP levels in lysate. (A) UBE4B was overexpressed under a CMV promoter in SK-N-AS, a neuron-like human cell line (Lane 2). As a control, untransfected SK-N-AS cells are shown in Lane 1. (B) Increased UBE4B led to significantly reduced levels of APP in cell lysate, as demonstrated by quantitation. For these experiments, n=3 and p=0.03.



Figure 5D. Efficiency of lentiviral transfection in primary cortical neurons. Primary cortical neurons (as shown in the first panel) were successfully transduced with lentiviral particles packaged with a pFUGW plasmid (which encodes the GFP gene), as shown by the abundant expression of GFP in culture (second panel). The merged (third) panel demonstrates the high efficiency of transduction.



Figure 5E. UBE4B depletion in primary cortical neurons leads to increased APP levels in lysate. UBE4B was depleted from primary cortical neurons using lentivirally-delivered shRNA (as detailed in Chapter 2). As a control, neurons were also transduced with virus containing a non-specific shRNA (scrambled, Lane 1). Depletion of UBE4B was confirmed by immunoblotting (Lane 2). Depletion of UBE4B leads to significant increases in APP levels in lysate, as shown by quantitation. For these experiments, n=3 and p=0.04.



Figure 5F. Absence of UBE4B leads to decreased APP ubiquitination. Lysates for immunoprecipitation were obtained from primary cortical neurons treated with lentivirus packaged with either scrambled or scrambled shRNA against UBE4B. (A) Left, a third of the material used for immunoprecipitation was used as a loading control. Right, lysates were immunoprecipitated with anti-APP or a nonspecific IgG control antibody. Immunoprecipitated materials were immunoblotted with antibodies against APP or ubiquitin. Immunoblot against ubiquitin was quantitated and normalized to immunoprecipitated APP in the scrambed and shUBE4B conditions. For these experiments, n=5 and p=0.041.



Figure 5G. Immunodepletion of UBE4B from rat brain cytosol. UBE4B was immunodepleted from rat brain cytosol, and confirmed via immunoblotting (Lane 2). As a control, a separate sample of rat brain cytosol was immunodepleted with a nonspecific IgG control (Lane 1). UBE4B levels are markedly decreased in the ΔUBE4B condition, compared to IgG-treated cyotosol.



Figure 5H. Depletion of UBE4B does not affect Hrs levels in cytosol. UBE4B was immunodepleted from rat brain cytosol, and confirmed via immunoblotting (See Figure 5G). Immunodepletion of UBE4B did not affect levels of the early ESCRT component, Hrs, known to bind UBE4B and required for the efficient trafficking of many membrane proteins at endosomes, including APP (detailed in Chapter 4). Lane 1 shows IgG-treated cytosol. Lane 2 shows cytosol immunodepleted for Hrs. Lane 3 shows cytosol immunodepleted for UBE4B.



Figure 5I. Absence of UBE4B leads to decreased APP protection from trypsin. APPcontaining early endosomes were incubated with IgG-treated cytosol (Lane 1) or Δ UBE4B cytosol (Lane 2). After trypsin cleavage, APP levels are significantly decreased in the Δ UBE4B condition, when compared to IgG control. In these experiments, n=4 and p=0.033.



Figure 5J. Absence of UBE4B leads to significantly increased levels of A β 42 in endosomes. APP-containing early endosomes were incubated with IgG-treated cytosol (Lane 1) or Δ UBE4B cytosol (Lane 2). After incubation, endosomes were recollected and analyzed for A β 42 via ELISA. A β 42 levels significantly increased in the Δ UBE4B condition, when compared to IgG control. In these experiments, n=3, p=0.04.



Figure 5K. Production of A β 42, caused by absence of UBE4B, can be significantly decreased in the presence of the BACE inhibitor, C3. APP-containing early endosomes were incubated with 20uM C3 prior to incubation with Δ UBE4B cytosol. After endosomal recollection, endosomes were analyzed for A β 42 levels via ELISA. For these experiments, n=4, p=0.019.

Discussion

The trafficking of APP through subcellular compartments has been a matter of intense investigation because of the role that these trafficking events may play in its amyloidogenic cleavage. Reports suggesting that APP may be cleaved at specific locations in the secretory and endocytic pathways have not clarified the primary sites underlying pathogenic APP fragment formation (3, 330–334). While the trans-Golgi network (TGN) and endosomes are likely important sites for production of Aβ. I focused my investigation on endosomal APP trafficking because of the strength of the evidence in favor of amyloid production at this cellular site. First, abnormal endosomal morphology and increased endosomal accumulation of pathogenic A β 40 and A β 42 peptides in the brain of individuals with dementia suggest that endosomal dysfunction may be key to its pathogenesis (335, 336). Second, APP and β -secretase (BACE1) co-localize on endosomes (299, 300, 337, 338). Third, both BACE1 (103, 112, 297) and the y-secretase complex are enzymatically active at endosomes(83, 96, 123, 125). Fourth, BACE1 has optimal activity at the low pH found in endosomes(298, 339), and BACE1 inhibitors tethered to endosomes result in decreased APP processing into A β in vitro(340). Given the topology of APP on the endosomal membrane, amyloidogenic APP cleavage into Aβ would result in Aβ accumulation in the lumen of the endosome. Fifth, internalization of APP from the PM into endosomes is required for secretion of A β into the extracellular space(312, 315). These data point to endosomes as an important site for pathogenic APP cleavage. The findings of my dissertation contribute to this important scientific discussion as they approach the problem in a novel way, focusing on neuronal endosomes containing endogenous APP using biochemical and cell biological approaches.

6.1 Endogenously Expressed Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) is localized on neuronal endosomes

The available literature on APP trafficking through endosomes has been confounded by the differences in cellular models (e.g. heterologous cell lines, neurons differentiated *in vitro*) used to study this process (3, 4, 89). Murine models have been used extensively in studies that inform our current understanding of A β production in the brain (341–344). I used a tractable model system that is relevant for APP processing in brain, primary cultured rat cortical neurons, to understand the cell biology of APP trafficking,

To confirm that cultured cortical neurons from my preparations expressed APP, I performed a series of experiments using two different APP antibodies, as well as antibodies against the neuronal marker, MAP2 (see Figure 3A). The results from that experiment confirmed that APP is mostly expressed in neuronal cells in my preparations. Moreover, their morphology provides evidence that the neurons within my preparation are healthy (321, 345, 346). It has been my experience that alterations in the culturing of these delicate cells greatly impacts the quality of the results obtained, and variance in neuronal health can interfere with observations. Aside from morphology, colocalization of APP with a neuronal marker (MAP2) provides evidence that in my preparation, APP is expressed in mostly in neruons, as opposed to glial cells or other brain associated cells that could contaminate cultures. In my experiments, no pharmacological agents were used to suppress the growth of supporting cells, so all experiments were performed between 5-10 days in vitro. It is important to note that these neurons are still considered developing neurons, which could impact my results. However, it is important to remember the conserved nature of the biological problem being examined and the fact that the mechanisms I have studied are similarly preserved in organisms across the eukaryotic taxon.

Much of the previous research examining APP trafficking through endosomes has been performed using cell lines overexpressing APP, expressing tagged APP, or with

altered compartments that facilitate examination of their endosomal trafficking. This work has provided an essential framework that informs our current understanding of the itinerary of this protein within the cell, and that has laid the foundation for the work exposed in this dissertation. However, there are abundant examples in the scientific literature in which overexpression of a protein can saturate trafficking mechanisms in the cell in both endocytic and secretory pathways (347–349), and can obscure the interpretation of data generated under such conditions. Moreover, fusion of large epitope or fluorescent tags (e.g. green fluorescent protein (GFP) can change the protein structure or cause multimerization (350–352), that can potentially alter protein function. For these reasons, examining the trafficking of endogenously expressed APP without the addition of tags is appealing and likely more accurately reflects trafficking in the human condition where APP is only overexpressed under limited circumstances, as in Down Syndrome (55, 64–66).

To examine the trafficking of a membrane protein through endosomes, many studies employ pulse-chase methods in which binding of a ligand to a surface protein, triggers its internalization into endosomal compartments (353–356). However, the absence of an established ligand for APP (4) made the possibility of a pulse-chase experiment unfeasible. Although some studies have observed that events like synaptic activity can trigger APP internalization (315–317, 357), I wanted to understand whether, in the absence of investigator-driven stimuli, APP was localized in endosomal compartments. Our results confirmed that APP colocalized with early and late endosomal markers within our cellular model (Figure 3B), suggesting that in the absence of exogenous stimuli, APP enters the endocytic pathway as part of its typical itinerary.

The use of velocity gradients to separate cellular organelles in a variety of tissues and cells (including neurons) has been extensively described (324, 327, 358, 359). I observed APP in fractions enriched in both early endosomes and fractions enriched in mixed (early and late) endosomes (Figure 3C). It is likely that the mixed endosomal peak

reflects intermediate states of the maturing endosome (150, 152, 154–156, 360).

Interestingly, I observed that APP also peaks in fractions that coincide with the endosomal peaks, suggesting that, at steady state, APP can localize to endosomes. However, BACE1 and PS1 (the enzymes that modify APP) seem to only be enriched in the mixed endosomal fraction. Other studies in the literature have observed APP-modifying enzymes to be present in endosomes (299, 300, 337), but their absence in early endosomal fractions suggests they can encounter APP at specific endosomal subpopulations. Despite this, it is still plausible that these enzymes are present (although not enriched) in early endosomal fractions, as evidenced by the accumulation of amyloid beta in *in vitro* assays, a product of the specific cleavage of APP by these enzymes.

Since the fractions obtained from this gradient are not truly pure preparations of each endosomal subpopulation, I confirmed that protease protection (173, 328) was a way to assess the location of APP with respect to the maturing endosome (Figure 3D). The differential response I obtained to protease protection with respect to the C-terminal epitope of APP in these two subpopulations allowed me to tailor a previously developed cell-free endosomal reconstitution assay (173, 296, 325) to the investigation of APP movement through endosomes.

It is important to note that this gradient isolation of endosomes only separates these organelles based on their density. It cannot distinguish between endosomes destined to target particular neuronal projections, such as axons or dendrites, versus those localized to the neuronal soma (361–363). Two recent studies(299, 300) showed that APP interacted with BACE-1 preferentially at endosomes from dendritic spines, presynaptic boutons, and axons. However, while these endosomal subpopulations might have different cellular destinations, they have been characterized using endosomal markers similar to those used in this dissertation (299, 300). It is currently not possible to identify or separate these

subpopulations for *in vitro* use. Future studies could identify the neuronal location where the endosomal proteins identified in these studies affect APP trafficking in intact neurons.

6.2 Inward budding of endogenous APP into the mature endosome lumen

I observed that both yeast and mammalian cytosol supported the movement of APP from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles, as shown by the increase in protease protection that resulted from incubating these early endosomes with each type of cytosol (Figure 4A). This result provides further evidence of the conserved nature of endosomal trafficking machinery (as discussed in the Introduction). Furthermore, the successful implementation of this *in vitro* examination of APP trafficking in neuronal endosomes will allow future studies to examine the trafficking of other membrane proteins in the brain using this approach.

The data presented supports our interpretation that trypsin protection can assess the location of APP with regard to the maturing endosome, and that cytosolic components support the development of internal vesicle formation in endosomes, even under cell-free conditions. Previous studies from the Bean laboratory have characterized this assay using other tools such as electron microscopy (173, 296, 325). However, it could be that the differential response to trypsin we observe in early vs mixed endosomal populations results from other factors (e.g. inhibitors to trypsin present in the preparation). In collaboration with Dr. Neal Waxham, I have performed preliminary experiments to address these questions and confirm that our *in vitro* assay can recapitulate endosomal maturation and internal vesicle formation in primary cortical neurons. In these experiments, we are using cryoelectron microscopy to examine the distribution of multi-vesicular endosomes (which have a distinct morphology) in endosomal fractions obtained from discontinuous sucrose gradients. This will allow us to assess the degree of endosomal subpopulation separation yielded by the gradient by using a different parameter (endosome morphology) besides endosomal
molecular markers. This assessment will also allow us to confirm whether the cell-free endosomal reconstitution assay leads to quantifiable increases in multi-vesicular endosomes within our assay reactions. Published work from the Bean laboratory has previously used electron microscopy to confirm this in heterologous cell lines (173), but not in primary neuronal cultures.

The acquisition of early endosomal membranes by using velocity gradients, and subsequent cell-free reactions yields very small amounts of material. I observed that successful immunoblot detection of APP on endosomes required at least 10 million neurons per cell free reaction. For this reason, I limited my investigation of the role of ESCRT proteins in APP trafficking to one component per ESCRT complex (described in Figure 4B). Using the described assay and yeast deletion strains for a component of all ESCRT complexes, I observed that members of the ESCRT 0, I, II, and III complexes are needed for efficient movement of APP from the endosomal limiting membrane into internal vesicles (Figure 4C). These data confirm previous observations (305-307) that ESCRT proteins are involved in APP endosomal trafficking, and strengthen the evidence supporting the endocytic pathway as an important cellular site for APP trafficking in neurons. However, there are differences in how these previous studies hypothesized endosomal production of Aβ occurs as a result of the absence of early (ESCRT-0, I) versus late (ESCRT-II, III) ESCRT proteins. As discussed in the introduction, Choy et al. (305) observed that deletion of early ESCRT components retained APP at endosomes and inhibited A β 40 secretion, whereas deletion of a late ESCRT component redirected APP into secretory compartments and enhanced secretion of A β 40. Morel et al.(306) observed that deletion of early ESCRT components also resulted in APP retention in endosomes (specifically, the endosomal limiting membrane), but led to increased Aβ40 secretion. Finally, Edgar et al.(307) observed that deletion of early ESCRT components led to increased intracellular Aβ40, but decreased Aβ40 secretion.

Using yeast deletion strains, I observed that absence of early and late ESCRT components led to a small but statistically significant increase in endosomal accumulation of A β 42 (Figure 4D). Due to limitations in the amount of neuronal material available, I chose to only examine A β 42 production in endosomes because of its increased pathogenicity and greater association with the development of AD (see Introduction), and because previous studies on the endosomal production of amyloid did not examine production of this species. Also, since there was significant controversy in the literature specifically regarding the role of early ESCRT proteins in amyloid production at endosomes (305–307), I examined how depletion of an early ESCRT, Hrs, affected APP trafficking. My results show that Hrs is required for efficient movement of full-length APP into the endosomal lumen (Figures 4E-F). Absence of Hrs dramatically increased A β 42 production at endosomes (Figure 4G).

There were differences in the levels of endosomal A β 42 generated in cell-free reactions containing yeast cytosol compared with reactions containing mammalian cytosol. Although the endosomal trafficking machinery is generally well conserved across species, it appears that the requirements for amyloid production through cleavage of APP are less efficient in reactions containing yeast cytosol in our *in vitro* reconstitution assay. BACE-1, is a transmembrane protein (104) that is not present in the yeast genome (364), so it must therefore be contributed by its presence on neuronal endosomes. BACE-1 can cleave APP in cell-free conditions (365), suggesting it does not require other cofactors for this activity. The γ -secretase complex requires the integration of 4 members of the complex (presenilins 1 and 2, APH, and nicastrin), none of which are expressed in yeast (366, 367) suggesting that they too are contributed on neuronal endosomes. The γ -secretase complex has been reconstituted by expression in yeast and shown to be sufficient for the cleavage of APP (368, 369). Thus, while both BACE-1 and the γ -secretase complex are capable of APP cleavage in the absence of co-factors, amyloidogenic cleavage of APP requires localization of APP and BACE-1 on lipid rafts (370–373). It is possible that the yeast cytosol does not

efficiently recapitulate this clustering of APP and the secretases in the appropriate endosomal microdomains.

The observation of intra-endosomal accumulation of A β 42 under conditions where both early (examined using yeast and mammalian cytosols) and late (examined using yeast cytosols) ESCRT components are deleted contrasts with the observations made by Choy et. al(305), where only absence of late ESCRTs led to increased amyloid production. Although my studies did not investigate the secretion of Aβ under conditions where ESCRTs were deleted from whole cells, my results are in accordance with the observations made by Morel et al. (306) and Edgar et al.(307) who showed that deletion of early ESCRTs causes generation of amyloid species in endosomes. The discrepancies in the results of these investigations might be due to differences in the cell model used, the type of APP examined (human vs. murine), and the degree of expression employed (exogenous vs. endogenous). However, my experiments do not address all aspects of the fate of APP in the absence of ESCRTs. It is likely that only a fraction of APP gets cleaved into amyloid at the endosome, and that some APP may be exported from endosomes in budded vesicles. This hypothesis is consistent with the observations made by Choy et al. (305), who showed that deletion of Hrs led to increased recycling of APP into the TGN. The cell-free assay used herein has been recently adapted to examine budding of vesicles from the endosomal limiting membrane (unpublished work from Bean laboratory). Such an approach could be used to examine whether APP may traffic from endosome-TGN in the absence of ESCRTs, and to elucidate the molecular machinery that may be required for this itinerary.

My observations are limited to the production of A β 42 at endosomes, but do not address where these endosomes may be targeted within neurons. Late endosomes may fuse with the lysosome (174, 374, 375) or with the plasma membrane (168, 376, 377)although the mechanisms distinguishing these fusion events are unclear. A β production in these two different populations of endosomes would have different outcomes:

in one case A β would remain inside neurons and in the other A β would be exported into the extracellular environment. Although the classical AD pathology involves aggregation of amyloid species outside of neurons, many studies (4, 51–53) have observed that intraneuronal accumulation of A β is toxic to neurons and might precede extracellular deposition.

Finally, it is not clear whether the degree of amyloid production caused by endosomal disturbances is sufficient to drive AD pathogenesis. As discussed in the Introduction, animal models deficient in ESCRT proteins have severely affected phenotypes, and any *in vivo* investigation of the role of ESCRTs in amyloidopathies would be obscured by the many other afflictions that these animals would develop. However, Morel et al. (306) observed decreased expression of components of the endosomal sorting machinery in the brains of people with AD, suggesting that these defects might contribute to pathogenesis in humans.

6.3 UBE4B is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that binds to, ubiquitinates APP and mediates efficient APP trafficking on endosomes

The involvement of ESCRT proteins in APP trafficking suggests that APP is ubiquitinated in its passage through the endocytic pathway, since ESCRT proteins enable endosomal sorting by binding to ubiquitin moieties on cargo proteins at the endosomal limiting membrane (203, 217, 256, 273, 378). In this regard, a previous publication(306) has demonstrated that APP is ubiquitinated at endosomes and that this ubiquitination facilitates its movement into mature endosomes. Aberrant ubiquitination has been correlated with AD (379–383), specifically the abnormal accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins inside endosomes of diseased neurons (384, 385). However, the identity of the E3 ligase (the ubiquitinating enzyme that is thought to provide specificity to the ubiquitination process, as detailed in the Introduction) that ubiquitinates APP at endosomes has been unclear.

APP ubiquitination has been correlated with its trafficking in previous studies. Ubiquilin-mediated ubiquitination of APP has been observed, although it occurs in secretory compartments (386, 387), prior to insertion in the plasma membrane. Also, the E3 ligase FBL2 was identified by microarray data as a gene downregulated in the hippocampus of AD subjects (388). A follow-up study discovered that overexpression FBL2 decreased production of Aβ40 and Aβ42 in murine hippocampal neurons (319). Although FBL2 expression did not significantly impact cellular APP levels, the study demonstrated that FBL2 can ubiquitinate APP at lysine 726 and increase its degradation (319). Interestingly, ubiquitination of APP by FBL2 at the cell surface inhibited APP endocytosis suggesting that FBL2 may play a role at the plasma membrane regulating APP internalization (Watanabe 2012). In this regard, the ubiquitination of membrane proteins at the plasma membrane can, but does not always, trigger the internalization of membrane proteins (389–393). In another study (306), mutations of lysine residues 724-726 of APP led to decreased ubiquitination of APP, as well as increased Aβ40 production and retention of APP at the endosomal limiting membrane.

In my experiments, I observed that the E3 ligase UBE4B affects the endocytic trafficking of APP in neurons. It binds to APP, potentially affects its ubiquitination, and alters APP levels in lysate. My observation that APP levels are significantly increased in neuronal lysate in the absence of UBE4B underscores the importance of this ligase in APP homeostasis in neurons. The only other E3 ligase known to ubiquitinate APP, FBL2, does not affect cellular levels of full-length APP.

As discussed in the Introduction, UBE4B has been implicated in the endosomal trafficking of other membrane proteins (296). In this previous study from the Bean laboratory, UBE4B is recruited to endosomes by binding to the early ESCRT protein Hrs. Depletion of UBE4B in HeLa cells did not affect levels of Hrs or other endosomally associated proteins in lysate, suggesting that it does not indiscriminately affect expression of

other important trafficking proteins (296). Of note, I observed that immunodepletion of UBE4B from rat brain cytosol did not affect Hrs levels, suggesting that the effects of UBE4B on APP endosomal trafficking observed with the cell-free assay are not due to depletion of Hrs.

My results demonstrate that UBE4B aids in the efficient movement of APP through endosomes. It is important to underscore that the interaction between APP and UBE4B I examined in cell-free reconstitution reactions occurs at endosomes, where APP is located prior to incubation with UBE4B-containing cytosol. These results do not exclude upstream interactions between APP and UBE4B molecules, but highlight the consequences of this interaction at the endosomal limiting membrane. While these results emphasize the importance of UBE4B as an endosomally-associated peripheral membrane protein, it is important that future investigations identify whether other protein targets are affected by UBE4B at endosomes. If UBE4B has many endosomally localized targets whose trafficking is affected by its activity, it would complicate the potential exploitation of the UBE4B-APP interaction for therapeutic purposes.

In my studies, the absence of UBE4B led to dramatic increases in endosomal A β 42. The 7-fold increase in A β 42 production observed in the absence of UBE4B is similar to the effect that deleting an ESCRT protein, Hrs, has on A β 42 production. Further, the observation that pharmacological inhibition of BACE-1 in our cell-free assay leads to significant inhibition of the increases in A β 42 production produced by Hrs or UBE4B depletion, suggests that active cleavage of APP by BACE-1 during the reaction incubations results in amyloid production. These observations suggest that endosomal sorting of wild-type APP from the endosomal limiting membrane to internal vesicles within the endosomal lumen is a key regulatory step in the balance between APP elimination and A β production. In the context of endogenous expression of APP, depletion of Hrs and UBE4B leads to such

dramatic changes in A β 42 production that it is possible that alterations in this APP trafficking step could result in pathological levels of A β in patients.

Although the *in vitro* experiments performed in this dissertation propose a role for UBE4B in the formation of A β , the relevance of this result to *in vivo* conditions has yet to be examined. Deletion of UBE4B results in embryonic lethality in mice (289), so conditional knockouts would have to be generated to investigate whether absence of UBE4B in the brain could lead to accumulation of amyloid species, as would be predicted by my results.

E3 ligases like UBE4B have been observed to confer specificity to the ubiquitination process, and are thought to have limited protein targets. This makes them suitable as potential therapeutic targets (200, 214, 216, 394), since alteration of their activity would likely have decreased potential for off-target effects. Future experiments could investigate the therapeutic role of UBE4B in the context of Aβ-related diseases like AD. For example, one might envision that overexpression of UBE4B could stimulate increased trafficking of APP into the endosomal lumen and may prevent Aβ production. Future investigations could explore UBE4B as a drug target for AD and other amyloidopathies of the brain.

6.4 Future Directions

The results discussed in this dissertation have examined the endocytic itinerary of APP, and determined that disruptions in this trafficking result in increased amyloid production. These findings also raise new questions that could drive further research in this field.

1. To determine whether endosomally produced Aβ42 is actively secreted from neurons.

A pressing question raised by the observation of endosomal accumulation of A β 42 is whether this A β 42 is secreted from cells. As discussed, intracellular A β can also be toxic to neurons, but previous work has shown that endosomal anomalies lead to increased A β

accumulation in conditioned media from cells (305–307). To address this question, I am pursuing experiments to examine how knockdown of UBE4B in neurons affects the accumulation of A β 42 extracellularly.

If it is the case that A β 42 is secreted as a result of abnormalities at endosomes, how is this AB42 exported? As discussed in the introduction, endosomes can potentially fuse with the plasma membrane, and release its luminal contents and internal vesicles to the extracellular space. Evidence for this event is the observation of nanovesicles in the extracellular space that contain endosomal markers such as Tsg101 and the ESCRTassociated protein Apoptosis-Linked Gene 2-Interacting Protein X (Alix) (178, 181, 183, 377, 395). Upon secretion, these nanovesicles of endosomal origin are called exosomes, and are characterized as 100-200nm vesicles expressing endosomal proteins, such as Alix and Tsg101 (396), as well as lipid raft markers such as Flotillin(396, 397). Exosome release has been documented in a variety of cell types and body fluids (185, 186, 398, 399), including neurons (189–191). There is controversy regarding what physiological function exosomes have, and how they are secreted. However, in a 2008 study(168), Trajkovic and others observed that inhibition of nSMase2 (led to decreased release of exosomes. Since then, multiple studies have replicated this effect in a variety of cells (400, 401), including neuronlike cells (192, 402). This effect has also been observed in *in vivo* experiments (403–405). I am actively pursuing experiments to address whether inhibition of endosome-PM fusion can

<u>2. To determine whether UBE4B can inhibit A β formation in the presence of disease-</u> inducing APP mutants.

Another interesting aspect of these studies that could be explored is the potential for UBE4B to be used therapeutically to modulate production of Aβ. In the 2004 study by Matsumoto et al., the authors observed that overexpression of UBE4B led to decreased

accumulation of another toxic protein, ataxin 3, that is also a target of UBE4B ubiquitination. A similar strategy could be used in our investigations, where increased UBE4B could force degradation of the full-length APP, and lead to decrease Aβ42 levels induced by diseasecausing mutations in APP.

The results of this dissertation suggest that UBE4B can ubiquitinate APP in living cells. However, the details of this ubiquitination were not explored. The work from Watanabe et al. and More at al. (306, 319) suggested that lysine residues 724-726 are crucial for APP ubiquitin. It would be interesting to verify whether these residues are ubiquitinated by UBE4B. This information would be beneficial not only for our mechanistic understanding of this relationship, but also because it would allow a more specific targeting of this interaction for therapeutic purposes.

3. To determine whether the itinerary of APP in endosomes leads to its degradation in lysosomes or its release via endosome-PM fusion.

The observation of APP in exosomes (194, 199) is in contrast with previous work showing that APP gets degraded at the lysosome (122, 146, 147, 197, 406). This raises questions regarding the itinerary of APP after arrival at the late endosome, and could also be the subject of future investigations. Furthermore, if the itinerary of APP is release on exosomes via endosome-PM fusion, what advantage would this give neurons? Is exosomal APP physiologically relevant? Future projects could help clarify whether APP is lysosomally degraded in neurons, or exported in exosomes upon endosome-plasma membrane fusion. Moreover, if both observations are true, it would be of interested to investigate whether different subgroups of late endosomes lead to these divergences in the itinerary of APP, and what signals this segregation of APP on endosomes.

<u>4. To explore whether APP can traffic from endosomal compartments into outwardly</u> budded vesicles, and how the retromer complex modulates this process.

The subcellular site of APP cleavage into Aß species has been highly controversial in the scientific literature (3, 4). My results suggesting that APP is processed through the amyloidogenic pathway at endosomes do not exclude the possibility that APP also gets cleaved into A β in secretory compartments. The retromer complex is a coat complex that has been established in retrograde trafficking from endosomes into the trans-Golgi network, TGN (137, 407–410). The retromer complex has been implicated in Alzheimer's disease, although the direction of that relationship (whether increased or decreased expression of retromer components leads to A β formation) has been controversial (reviewed in (411)). Choy et al. (305) observed that ESCRT deficiencies led to retromer-dependent trafficking of APP into the TGN, where it was processed into Aβ. While my investigations did not examine this route of trafficking for APP, recent unpublished work by the Bean laboratory has adapted our cell-free assay to the examination of outward budding events from the endosomal limiting membrane. This assay could be adapted to evaluate whether neuronal endosomes traffic APP outwardly in a retromer-dependent matter, and whether those vesicles already contain endosomally produced AB or whether the processing truly occurs in the TGN.

6.5 Conclusions

The findings of my dissertation contribute to the ongoing conversation regarding APP trafficking through endosomal compartments, and the production of A β as a result of trafficking disturbances. They address controversies in the literature regarding the role of ESCRT proteins in APP trafficking and A β production. Although these observations stem from *in vitro* reconstitution experiments, they suggest that, in the absence of pathogenic mutations in APP or the secretases, disturbances in endocytic trafficking of APP can lead to

marked increases in A β production. According to the amyloid cascade hypothesis (2, 41), imbalances in the production and clearance of A β can create a scenario that leads to brain disease, and the dramatic increases in A β production observed as a result of endocytic deficiencies in this study suggest that such mechanisms could underlie the pathogenesis of at least some individuals with AD and other diseases where A β accumulates.

A particular weakness of this investigation is the use of cell-free conditions to elucidate APP endosomal trafficking. While this assay has yielded information that I believe helps advance the field, the use of such assays disregards any regulatory mechanisms that the cell might employ to correct disturbances in trafficking. For example, it is feasible to envision how decreased UBE4B might, over time, lead the cell to also downregulate APP expression as a compensatory mechanism. In that sense, future experiments should design strategies that confirm these findings in whole cells, particularly neurons. However, the observation of how UBE4B impacts APP levels in lysate, as well as APP ubiquitination, lead me to believe that this compensatory mechanism might not be occurring, or at least might not occur before harm is done to the cell.

Like with other complex diseases of aging, it is likely that individuals develop similar disease phenotypes of dementia due to distinct pathological mechanisms (412, 413). In that sense, the findings of this study do not disprove that A β production can happen at other cellular sites as have been described, particularly the secretory pathway (120, 147, 299, 305). However, because A β accumulation is a common observation in demented patients, and dementia is so prevalent in our society, it is likely that endosomal cleavage of APP into A β is a relevant disease mechanism for at least some individuals.

Despite the significant controversies surrounding the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and the role that A β plays in that process, there is an overwhelming literature that suggests excess A β is toxic to neurons. However, multiple failures in the development of therapeutic strategies that target A β have led to decreased enthusiasm for A β as a target for

dementia (4, 48, 413). Studies during the last 5 years (including this dissertation) have allowed enhanced mechanistic understanding of A β production in cells, and have particularly highlighted the endocytic pathway. This new understanding of the cell biology of APP could aid in the development of new therapeutics for AD, especially in patients in which the disease is caused by endocytic trafficking disturbances.

Bibliography

1. Wood, A. J. J., and J. L. Cummings. 2004. Alzheimer's Disease. *n engl j med* 3511351: 56–67.

2. Selkoe, D. J., and M. B. Podlisny. 2002. DECIPHERING THE GENETIC BASIS OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet 3: 67–99.

3. Haass, C., C. Kaether, G. Thinakaran, and S. Sisodia. 2012. Trafficking and Proteolytic Processing of APP. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2: a006270–a006270.

4. O'Brien, R. J., and P. C. Wong. 2011. Amyloid Precursor Protein Processing and Alzheimer's Disease. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 34: 185–204.

5. Tejada-Vera, B. 2013. Mortality from Alzheimer's disease in the United States: data for 2000 and 2010. *NCHS Data Brief* 1–8.

Larson, E. B., M.-F. Shadlen, L. Wang, W. C. McCormick, J. D. Bowen, L. Teri, and W. A.
 Kukull. 2004. Survival after Initial Diagnosis of Alzheimer Disease. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 140: 501.

7. Perrin, R. J., A. M. Fagan, and D. M. Holtzman. 2009. Multimodal techniques for diagnosis and prognosis of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* 461: 916–922.

8. Vishal, S., A. Sourabh, and S. Harkirat. 2011. Alois Alzheimer (1864?1915) and the Alzheimer syndrome. *J. Med. Biogr.* 19: 32–33.

9. Smith, A. D. 2002. Imaging the progression of Alzheimer pathology through the brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 99: 4135–7.

10. Mufson, E. J., L. Mahady, D. Waters, S. E. Counts, S. E. Perez, S. T. DeKosky, S. D. Ginsberg, M. D. Ikonomovic, S. W. Scheff, and L. I. Binder. 2015. Hippocampal plasticity during the progression of Alzheimer?s disease. *Neuroscience* 309: 51–67.

11. Serrano-Pozo, A., M. P. Frosch, E. Masliah, and B. T. Hyman. 2011. Neuropathological alterations in Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 1: a006189.

12. Johnson, G. V. W., and W. H. Stoothoff. 2004. Tau phosphorylation in neuronal cell function and dysfunction. *J. Cell Sci.* 117.

Ittner, L. M., Y. D. Ke, F. Delerue, M. Bi, A. Gladbach, J. van Eersel, H. Wölfing, B. C. Chieng, M. J. Christie, I. A. Napier, A. Eckert, M. Staufenbiel, E. Hardeman, and J. Götz.
 2010. Dendritic function of tau mediates amyloid-beta toxicity in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Cell* 142: 387–97.

14. Castellani, R. J., H.-G. Lee, X. Zhu, G. Perry, and M. A. Smith. 2008. Alzheimer disease pathology as a host response. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 67: 523–31.

15. Wang, J.-Z., Y.-Y. Xia, I. Grundke-Iqbal, and K. Iqbal. 2013. Abnormal

hyperphosphorylation of tau: sites, regulation, and molecular mechanism of neurofibrillary degeneration. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 33 Suppl 1: S123-39.

16. Hampel, H., K. Blennow, L. M. Shaw, Y. C. Hoessler, H. Zetterberg, and J. Q.

Trojanowski. 2010. Total and phosphorylated tau protein as biological markers of Alzheimer's disease. *Exp. Gerontol.* 45: 30–40.

17. Haass, C., and E. Mandelkow. 2010. Fyn-Tau-Amyloid: A Toxic Triad. *Cell* 142: 356–358.

18. Haass, C. 2010. Initiation and propagation of neurodegeneration. *Nat. Med.* 16: 1201–1204.

19. Morris, M., S. Maeda, K. Vossel, and L. Mucke. 2011. The many faces of tau. *Neuron* 70: 410–26.

20. Iqbal, K., F. Liu, and C.-X. Gong. 2015. Tau and neurodegenerative disease: the story so far. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 12: 15–27.

 Bodea, L.-G., A. Eckert, L. M. Ittner, O. Piguet, and J. G?tz. 2016. Tau physiology and pathomechanisms in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *J. Neurochem.* 138: 71–94.
 Dickson, D. W., N. Kouri, M. E. Murray, and K. A. Josephs. 2011. Neuropathology of Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration-Tau (FTLD-Tau). *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 45: 384–389.

23. Spillantini, M. G., and M. Goedert. 2013. Tau pathology and neurodegeneration. *Lancet Neurol.* 12: 609–622.

24. Götz, J., F. Chen, J. van Dorpe, and R. M. Nitsch. 2001. Formation of Neurofibrillary
Tangles in P301L Tau Transgenic Mice Induced by Aβ42 Fibrils. *Science (80-.).* 293.
25. Lewis, J., D. W. Dickson, W.-L. Lin, L. Chisholm, A. Corral, G. Jones, S.-H. Yen, N.
Sahara, L. Skipper, D. Yager, C. Eckman, J. Hardy, M. Hutton, and E. Mcgowan. 2001.
Enhanced Neurofibrillary Degeneration in Transgenic Mice Expressing Mutant Tau and
APP. *Source Sci. New Ser.* 293: 1487–1491.

Takashima, A., K. Noguchi, K. Sato, T. Hoshino, and K. Imahori. 1993. Tau protein kinase I is essential for amyloid beta-protein-induced neurotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 90: 7789–93.

Minkeviciene, R., S. Rheims, M. B. Dobszay, M. Zilberter, J. Hartikainen, L. Fülöp, B. Penke, Y. Zilberter, T. Harkany, A. Pitkänen, and H. Tanila. 2009. Amyloid beta-induced neuronal hyperexcitability triggers progressive epilepsy. *J. Neurosci.* 29: 3453–62.
 Palop, J. J., and L. Mucke. 2009. Epilepsy and Cognitive Impairments in Alzheimer

Disease. Arch. Neurol. 66: 435.

29. Palop, J. J., J. Chin, E. D. Roberson, J. Wang, M. T. Thwin, N. Bien-Ly, J. Yoo, K. O. Ho, G.-Q. Yu, A. Kreitzer, S. Finkbeiner, J. L. Noebels, and L. Mucke. 2007. Aberrant Excitatory Neuronal Activity and Compensatory Remodeling of Inhibitory Hippocampal Circuits in Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuron* 55: 697–711.

30. D?Andrea, M., and R. Nagele. 2010. Morphologically distinct types of amyloid plaques point the way to a better understanding of Alzheimer?s disease pathogenesis. *Biotech. Histochem.* 85: 133–147.

31. Vinters, H. V, Z. Z. Wang, and D. L. Secor. 1996. Brain parenchymal and microvascular amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Pathol.* 6: 179–95.

32. Shinkai, Y., M. Yoshimura, Y. Ito, A. Odaka, N. Suzuki, K. Yanagisawa, and Y. Ihara.

1995. Amyloid beta-proteins 1-40 and 1-42(43) in the soluble fraction of extra- and intracranial blood vessels. *Ann. Neurol.* 38: 421–8.

33. Weller, R. O., A. Massey, T. A. Newman, M. Hutchings, Y. M. Kuo, and A. E. Roher. 1998. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy: amyloid beta accumulates in putative interstitial fluid drainage pathways in Alzheimer's disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* 153: 725–33.

34. Ellis, R. J., J. M. Olichney, L. J. Thal, S. S. Mirra, J. C. Morris, D. Beekly, and A. Heyman. 1996. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease: the CERAD experience, Part XV. *Neurology* 46: 1592–6.

35. Rostagno, A., J. L. Holton, T. Lashley, T. Revesz, and J. Ghiso. 2010. Cerebral amyloidosis: amyloid subunits, mutants and phenotypes. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 67: 581–600.
36. Mandybur, T. I. 1975. The incidence of cerebral amyloid angiopathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 25: 120–6.

Gravina, S. A., L. Ho, C. B. Eckman, K. E. Long, L. Otvos, L. H. Younkin, N. Suzuki, and
 G. Younkin. 1995. Amyloid beta protein (A beta) in Alzheimer's disease brain.

Biochemical and immunocytochemical analysis with antibodies specific for forms ending at A beta 40 or A beta 42(43). *J. Biol. Chem.* 270: 7013–6.

38. Glenner, G. G., and C. W. Wong. 1984. Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 120: 885–90.

39. Glenner, G. G., C. W. Wong, V. Quaranta, and E. D. Eanes. 1984. The amyloid deposits in Alzheimer's disease: their nature and pathogenesis. *Appl. Pathol.* 2: 357–69.

40. Miller, D. L., I. A. Papayannopoulos, J. Styles, S. A. Bobin, Y. Y. Lin, K. Biemann, and K. Iqbal. 1993. Peptide Compositions of the Cerebrovascular and Senile Plaque Core Amyloid Deposits of Alzheimer's Disease. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 301: 41–52.

41. Hardy, J., and D. J. Selkoe. The Amyloid Hypothesis of Alzheimer's Disease: Progress and Problems on the Road to Therapeutics.

42. Pearson, H. A., and C. Peers. 2006. Physiological roles for amyloid β peptides. *J. Physiol.* 575: 5–10.

43. Plant, L. D., J. P. Boyle, I. F. Smith, C. Peers, and H. A. Pearson. 2003. The production of amyloid beta peptide is a critical requirement for the viability of central neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 23: 5531–5.

44. Morley, J. E., S. A. Farr, W. A. Banks, S. N. Johnson, K. A. Yamada, and L. Xu. 2010. A physiological role for amyloid-beta protein:enhancement of learning and memory. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 19: 441–9.

45. Bishop, G. M., and S. R. Robinson. 2004. Physiological roles of amyloid-beta and implications for its removal in Alzheimer's disease. *Drugs Aging* 21: 621–30.

46. Cárdenas-Aguayo, M. del C., L. Gómez-Virgilio, S. DeRosa, and M. A. Meraz-Ríos.

2014. The role of tau oligomers in the onset of Alzheimer's disease neuropathology. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 5: 1178–91.

47. Simmons, L. K., P. C. May, K. J. Tomaselli, R. E. Rydel, K. S. Fuson, E. F. Brigham, S. Wright, I. Lieberburg, G. W. Becker, and D. N. Brems. 1994. Secondary structure of amyloid beta peptide correlates with neurotoxic activity in vitro. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 45: 373–9.
48. Benilova, I., E. Karran, and B. De Strooper. 2012. The toxic A? oligomer and Alzheimer's disease: an emperor in need of clothes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15: 349–357.
49. Pike, C. J., A. J. Walencewicz, C. G. Glabe, and C. W. Cotman. 1991. Aggregation-related toxicity of synthetic beta-amyloid protein in hippocampal cultures. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 207: 367–8.

 50. Takahashi, R. H., T. Nagao, and G. K. Gouras. 2017. Plaque formation and the intraneuronal accumulation of ?-amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Pathol. Int.* 67: 185–193.
 51. Gouras, G. K., C. G. Almeida, and R. H. Takahashi. 2005. Intraneuronal A? accumulation and origin of plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26: 1235–1244.
 52. Billings, L. M., S. Oddo, K. N. Green, J. L. McGaugh, and F. M. LaFerla. 2005.

Intraneuronal Aβ Causes the Onset of Early Alzheimer's Disease-Related Cognitive Deficits in Transgenic Mice. *Neuron* 45: 675–688.

Youmans, K. L., L. M. Tai, T. Kanekiyo, W. B. Stine, S.-C. Michon, E. Nwabuisi-Heath,
 A. M. Manelli, Y. Fu, S. Riordan, W. A. Eimer, L. Binder, G. Bu, C. Yu, D. M. Hartley, and M.
 J. LaDu. 2012. Intraneuronal A? detection in 5xFAD mice by a new A?-specific antibody.
 Mol. Neurodegener. 7: 8.

54. Kang, J., H.-G. Lemaire, A. Unterbeck, J. M. Salbaum, C. L. Masters, K.-H. Grzeschik, G. Multhaup, K. Beyreuther, and B. M?ller-Hill. 1987. The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. *Nature* 325: 733–736.

55. Iwatsubo, T., D. M. A. Mann, A. Odaka, N. Suzuki, and Y. Ihara. 1995. Amyloid ? protein

(A?) deposition: A?42(43) precedes A?40 in down Syndrome. Ann. Neurol. 37: 294–299.

56. Citron, M., T. Oltersdorf, C. Haass, L. McConlogue, A. Y. Hung, P. Seubert, C. Vigo-

Pelfrey, I. Lieberburg, and D. J. Selkoe. 1992. Mutation of the ?-amyloid precursor protein in familial Alzheimer's disease increases ?-protein production. *Nature* 360: 672–674.

57. Citron, M., C. Vigo-Pelfrey, D. B. Teplow, C. Miller, D. Schenk, J. Johnston, B. Winblad, N. Venizelos, L. Lannfelt, and D. J. Selkoe. 1994. Excessive production of amyloid betaprotein by peripheral cells of symptomatic and presymptomatic patients carrying the

Swedish familial Alzheimer disease mutation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91: 11993–7.

58. Kamino, K., H. T. Orr, H. Payami, E. M. Wijsman, M. E. Alonso, S. M. Pulst, L.

Anderson, S. O'dahl, E. Nemens, and J. A. White. 1992. Linkage and mutational analysis of familial Alzheimer disease kindreds for the APP gene region. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 51: 998–1014.

59. Nilsberth, C., A. Westlind-Danielsson, C. B. Eckman, M. M. Condron, K. Axelman, C.
Forsell, C. Stenh, J. Luthman, D. B. Teplow, S. G. Younkin, J. Näslund, and L. Lannfelt.
2001. The "Arctic" APP mutation (E693G) causes Alzheimer's disease by enhanced Aβ
protofibril formation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4: 887–893.

Murrell, J., M. Farlow, B. Ghetti, and M. D. Benson. 1991. A mutation in the amyloid precursor protein associated with hereditary Alzheimer's disease. *Science* 254: 97–9.
 Finckh, U., C. Kuschel, M. Anagnostouli, E. Patsouris, G. V Pantes, S. Gatzonis, E. Kapaki, P. Davaki, K. Lamszus, D. Stavrou, and A. Gal. 2005. Novel mutations and repeated findings of mutations in familial Alzheimer disease. *Neurogenetics* 6: 85–9.
 Thinakaran, G., D. B. Teplow, R. Siman, B. Greenberg, and S. S. Sisodia. 1996.
 Metabolism of the "Swedish" amyloid precursor protein variant in neuro2a (N2a) cells. Evidence that cleavage at the "beta-secretase" site occurs in the golgi apparatus. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271: 9390–7.

63. Sahlin, C., A. Lord, K. Magnusson, H. Englund, C. G. Almeida, P. Greengard, F. Nyberg, G. K. Gouras, L. Lannfelt, and L. N. G. Nilsson. 2007. The Arctic Alzheimer mutation favors intracellular amyloid-? production by making amyloid precursor protein less available to ?-secretase. *J. Neurochem.* 101: 854–862.

64. Lott, I. T., and M. Dierssen. 2010. Cognitive deficits and associated neurological complications in individuals with Down's syndrome. *Lancet Neurol.* 9: 623–633.

65. Rumble, B., R. Retallack, C. Hilbich, G. Simms, G. Multhaup, R. Martins, A. Hockey, P. Montgomery, K. Beyreuther, and C. L. Masters. 1989. Amyloid A4 Protein and Its Precursor in Down's Syndrome and Alzheimer's Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 320: 1446–1452.

66. Gardiner, K., Y. Herault, I. T. Lott, S. E. Antonarakis, R. H. Reeves, and M. Dierssen.

2010. Down Syndrome: From Understanding the Neurobiology to Therapy. *J. Neurosci.* 30: 14943–14945.

67. Head, E., E. Doran, M. Nistor, M. Hill, F. A. Schmitt, R. J. Haier, and I. T. Lott. 2011. Plasma amyloid-β as a function of age, level of intellectual disability, and presence of dementia in Down syndrome. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 23: 399–409.

68. Haass, C., M. G. Schlossmacher, A. Y. Hung, C. Vigo-Pelfrey, A. Mellon, B. L. Ostaszewski, I. Lieberburg, E. H. Koo, D. Schenk, D. B. Teplow, and D. J. Selkoe. 1992.

Amyloid ?-peptide is produced by cultured cells during normal metabolism. *Nature* 359: 322–325.

69. Shoji, M., T. E. Golde, J. Ghiso, T. T. Cheung, S. Estus, L. M. Shaffer, X. D. Cai, D. M. McKay, R. Tintner, and B. Frangione. 1992. Production of the Alzheimer amyloid beta protein by normal proteolytic processing. *Science* 258: 126–9.

70. Dovey, H. F., S. Suomensaari-Chrysler, I. Lieberburg, S. Sinha, and P. S. Keim. 1993. Cells with a familial Alzheimer's disease mutation produce authentic beta-peptide. *Neuroreport* 4: 1039–42.

71. Sandbrink, R., T. Hartmann, C. L. Masters, and K. Beyreuther. 1996. Genes contributing to Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Psychiatry* 1: 27–40.

72. Sandbrink, R., C. L. Masters, and K. Beyreuther. 1994. Similar alternative splicing of a non-homologous domain in beta A4-amyloid protein precursor-like proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269: 14227–34.

73. Wasco, W., J. Peppercorn, and R. E. Tanzi. 1993. Search for the genes responsible for familial Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 695: 203–8.

74. Hanes, J., H. von der Kammer, G. I. Kristjansson, and K. H. Scheit. 1993. The complete cDNA coding sequence for the mouse CDEI binding protein. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1216: 154–6.

75. Zhang, H., Q. Ma, Y. Zhang, and H. Xu. 2012. Proteolytic processing of Alzheimer's βamyloid precursor protein. *J. Neurochem.* 120: 9–21.

76. Belyaev, N. D., K. A. B. Kellett, C. Beckett, N. Z. Makova, T. J. Revett, N. N. Nalivaeva,

N. M. Hooper, and A. J. Turner. 2010. The Transcriptionally Active Amyloid Precursor

Protein (APP) Intracellular Domain Is Preferentially Produced from the 695 Isoform of APP

in a ?-Secretase-dependent Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 285: 41443–41454.

77. Forloni, G., F. Demicheli, S. Giorgi, C. Bendotti, and N. Angeretti. 1992. Expression of amyloid precursor protein mRNAs in endothelial, neuronal and glial cells: modulation by

interleukin-1. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 16: 128–34.

78. Pandey, P., B. Sliker, H. L. Peters, A. Tuli, J. Herskovitz, K. Smits, A. Purohit, R. K. Singh, J. Dong, S. K. Batra, D. W. Coulter, and J. C. Solheim. 2016. Amyloid precursor protein and amyloid precursor-like protein 2 in cancer. *Oncotarget* 7: 19430–44.

79. Beer, J., C. L. Masters, and K. Beyreuther. 1995. Cells from peripheral tissues that exhibit high APP expression are characterized by their high membrane fusion activity. *Neurodegeneration* 4: 51–9.

80. Wu, Y., S. Zhang, Q. Xu, H. Zou, W. Zhou, F. Cai, T. Li, and W. Song. 2016. Regulation of global gene expression and cell proliferation by APP. *Sci. Rep.* 6: 22460.

81. Mattson, M. P. 1997. Cellular actions of beta-amyloid precursor protein and its soluble and fibrillogenic derivatives. *Physiol. Rev.* 77: 1081–132.

82. Qiu, W. Q., A. Ferreira, C. Miller, E. H. Koo, and D. J. Selkoe. 1995. Cell-surface betaamyloid precursor protein stimulates neurite outgrowth of hippocampal neurons in an isoform-dependent manner. *J. Neurosci.* 15: 2157–67.

83. Selkoe, D. J., T. Yamazaki, M. Citron, M. B. Podlisny, E. H. Koo, D. B. Teplow, and C. Haass. 1996. The role of APP processing and trafficking pathways in the formation of amyloid beta-protein. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 777: 57–64.

84. Sabo, S. L., A. F. Ikin, J. D. Buxbaum, and P. Greengard. 2003. The amyloid precursor protein and its regulatory protein, FE65, in growth cones and synapses in vitro and in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* 23: 5407–15.

85. Priller, C., T. Bauer, G. Mitteregger, B. Krebs, H. A. Kretzschmar, and J. Herms. 2006. Synapse Formation and Function Is Modulated by the Amyloid Precursor Protein. *J. Neurosci.* 26: 7212–7221.

86. Young-Pearse, T. L., J. Bai, R. Chang, J. B. Zheng, J. J. LoTurco, and D. J. Selkoe. 2007. A critical function for beta-amyloid precursor protein in neuronal migration revealed by in utero RNA interference. *J. Neurosci.* 27: 14459–69. 87. Anliker, B., and U. Müller. 2006. The functions of mammalian amyloid precursor protein and related amyloid precursor-like proteins. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 3: 239–46.

88. Müller, U. C., and H. Zheng. 2012. Physiological functions of APP family proteins. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2: a006288.

89. Vetrivel, K. S., and G. Thinakaran. 2006. Amyloidogenic processing of ?-amyloid precursor protein in intracellular compartments. *Neurology* 66: S69–S73.

90. De Strooper, B., R. Vassar, and T. Golde. 2010. The secretases: enzymes with therapeutic potential in Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 6: 99–107.

91. Dominguez, D. I., B. De Strooper, and W. Annaert. 2001. Secretases as therapeutic targets for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Amyloid* 8: 124–42.

92. Strooper, B. De, and W. Annaert. 2001. Presenilins and the intramembrane proteolysis of proteins: facts and fiction. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3: E221–E225.

93. Lichtenthaler, S. F. 2012. Alpha-secretase cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein: proteolysis regulated by signaling pathways and protein trafficking. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 9: 165–77.

94. Kuhn, P.-H., H. Wang, B. Dislich, A. Colombo, U. Zeitschel, J. W. Ellwart, E. Kremmer, S. Ro?ner, and S. F. Lichtenthaler. 2010. ADAM10 is the physiologically relevant, constitutive ?-secretase of the amyloid precursor protein in primary neurons. *EMBO J.* 29: 3020–3032.

95. Ryan, M. M., G. P. Morris, B. G. Mockett, K. Bourne, W. C. Abraham, W. P. Tate, and J. M. Williams. 2013. Time-dependent changes in gene expression induced by secreted amyloid precursor protein-alpha in the rat hippocampus. *BMC Genomics* 14: 376.
96. Sharples, R. A., L. J. Vella, R. M. Nisbet, R. Naylor, K. Perez, K. J. Barnham, C. L. Masters, and A. F. Hill. 2008. Inhibition of gamma-secretase causes increased secretion of amyloid precursor protein C-terminal fragments in association with exosomes. *FASEB J.* 22: 1469–1478.

97. Furukawa, K., B. L. Sopher, R. E. Rydel, J. G. Begley, D. G. Pham, G. M. Martin, M. Fox, and M. P. Mattson. 1996. Increased activity-regulating and neuroprotective efficacy of alpha-secretase-derived secreted amyloid precursor protein conferred by a C-terminal heparin-binding domain. *J. Neurochem.* 67: 1882–96.

98. Mattson, M. P., B. Cheng, A. R. Culwell, F. S. Esch, I. Lieberburg, and R. E. Rydel. 1993. Evidence for excitoprotective and intraneuronal calcium-regulating roles for secreted forms of the beta-amyloid precursor protein. *Neuron* 10: 243–54.

99. Hefter, D., M. Kaiser, S. W. Weyer, I. E. Papageorgiou, M. Both, O. Kann, U. C. Müller, and A. Draguhn. 2016. Amyloid Precursor Protein Protects Neuronal Network Function after Hypoxia via Control of Voltage-Gated Calcium Channels. *J. Neurosci.* 36: 8356–71.

100. Sisodia, S. S., and P. H. St George-Hyslop. 2002. γ -SECRETASE, NOTCH, A β AND

ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE: WHERE DO THE PRESENILINS FIT IN? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3: 281–290.

101. Shen, J., and R. J. Kelleher. 2007. The presenilin hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease:
Evidence for a loss-of-function pathogenic mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104: 403–409.
102. Amtul, Z., P. A. Lewis, S. Piper, R. Crook, M. Baker, K. Findlay, A. Singleton, M. Hogg,
L. Younkin, S. G. Younkin, J. Hardy, M. Hutton, B. F. Boeve, D. Tang-Wai, and T. E. Golde.
2002. A Presenilin 1 Mutation Associated with Familial Frontotemporal Dementia Inhibits ?Secretase Cleavage of APP and Notch. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 9: 269–273.

103. Vassar, R., D. M. Kovacs, R. Yan, and P. C. Wong. 2009. The beta-secretase enzyme BACE in health and Alzheimer's disease: regulation, cell biology, function, and therapeutic potential. *J. Neurosci.* 29: 12787–94.

104. Cai, H., Y. Wang, D. McCarthy, H. Wen, D. R. Borchelt, D. L. Price, and P. C. Wong.
2001. BACE1 is the major beta-secretase for generation of Abeta peptides by neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4: 233–4.

105. Vassar, R., B. D. Bennett, S. Babu-Khan, S. Kahn, E. A. Mendiaz, P. Denis, D. B.

Teplow, S. Ross, P. Amarante, R. Loeloff, Y. Luo, S. Fisher, J. Fuller, S. Edenson, J. Lile, M.
A. Jarosinski, A. L. Biere, E. Curran, T. Burgess, J. C. Louis, F. Collins, J. Treanor, G.
Rogers, and M. Citron. 1999. Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor
protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *Science* 286: 735–41.

106. Hussain, I., D. Powell, D. R. Howlett, D. G. Tew, T. D. Meek, C. Chapman, I. S. Gloger,

K. E. Murphy, C. D. Southan, D. M. Ryan, T. S. Smith, D. L. Simmons, F. S. Walsh, C.

Dingwall, and G. Christie. 1999. Identification of a novel aspartic protease (Asp 2) as betasecretase. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 14: 419–27.

107. Yan, R., M. E. Gurney, M. J. Bienkowski, M. E. Shuck, H. Miao, M. C. Tory, A. M.

Pauley, J. R. Brashler, N. C. Stratman, W. R. Mathews, A. E. Buhl, D. B. Carter, A. G.

Tomasselli, L. A. Parodi, and R. L. Heinrikson. 1999. Membrane-anchored aspartyl protease with Alzheimer's disease beta-secretase activity. *Nature* 402: 533–537.

108. Lin, X., G. Koelsch, S. Wu, D. Downs, A. Dashti, and J. Tang. 2000. Human aspartic protease memapsin 2 cleaves the beta-secretase site of beta-amyloid precursor protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 97: 1456–60.

109. Sinha, S., J. P. Anderson, R. Barbour, G. S. Basi, R. Caccavello, D. Davis, M. Doan, H.
F. Dovey, N. Frigon, J. Hong, K. Jacobson-Croak, N. Jewett, P. Keim, J. Knops, I.
Lieberburg, M. Power, H. Tan, G. Tatsuno, J. Tung, D. Schenk, P. Seubert, S. M.
Suomensaari, S. Wang, D. Walker, J. Zhao, L. McConlogue, and V. John. 1999. Purification and cloning of amyloid precursor protein beta-secretase from human brain. *Nature* 402: 537–40.

110. Shi, Q., M. Prior, W. He, X. Tang, X. Hu, and R. Yan. 2009. Reduced amyloid deposition in mice overexpressing RTN3 is adversely affected by preformed dystrophic neurites. *J. Neurosci.* 29: 9163–73.

111. Lundgren, J. L., S. Ahmed, S. Schedin-Weiss, G. K. Gouras, B. Winblad, L. O. Tjernberg, and S. Frykman. 2015. ADAM10 and BACE1 are localized to synaptic vesicles. *J.*

Neurochem. n/a-n/a.

112. Shimizu, H., A. Tosaki, K. Kaneko, T. Hisano, T. Sakurai, and N. Nukina. 2008. Crystal structure of an active form of BACE1, an enzyme responsible for amyloid beta protein production. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28: 3663–71.

113. Zhi, P., C. Chia, and P. A. Gleeson. Intracellular Trafficking of the b-Secretase and Processing of Amyloid Precursor Protein.

114. Hook, V. Y. H., T. Toneff, W. Aaron, S. Yasothornsrikul, R. Bundey, and T. Reisine. 2002. Beta-amyloid peptide in regulated secretory vesicles of chromaffin cells: evidence for multiple cysteine proteolytic activities in distinct pathways for beta-secretase activity in chromaffin vesicles. *J. Neurochem.* 81: 237–56.

115. Fukumoto, H., B. S. Cheung, B. T. Hyman, and M. C. Irizarry. 2002. Beta-secretase protein and activity are increased in the neocortex in Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 59: 1381–9.

116. Yang, L.-B., K. Lindholm, R. Yan, M. Citron, W. Xia, X.-L. Yang, T. Beach, L. Sue, P. Wong, D. Price, R. Li, and Y. Shen. 2003. Elevated ?-secretase expression and enzymatic activity detected in sporadic Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Med.* 9: 3–4.

117. Li, R., K. Lindholm, L.-B. Yang, X. Yue, M. Citron, R. Yan, T. Beach, L. Sue, M. Sabbagh, H. Cai, P. Wong, D. Price, and Y. Shen. 2004. Amyloid ? peptide load is correlated with increased ?-secretase activity in sporadic Alzheimer's disease patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101: 3632–3637.

118. Sinha, S., and I. Lieberburg. 1999. Cellular mechanisms of beta-amyloid production and secretion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 96: 11049–53.

119. Francis, R., G. McGrath, J. Zhang, D. A. Ruddy, M. Sym, J. Apfeld, M. Nicoll, M.
Maxwell, B. Hai, M. C. Ellis, A. L. Parks, W. Xu, J. Li, M. Gurney, R. L. Myers, C. S. Himes,
R. Hiebsch, C. Ruble, J. S. Nye, and D. Curtis. 2002. aph-1 and pen-2 are required for
Notch pathway signaling, gamma-secretase cleavage of betaAPP, and presenilin protein

accumulation. Dev. Cell 3: 85-97.

120. Annaert, W. G., L. Levesque, K. Craessaerts, I. Dierinck, G. Snellings, D. Westaway, P. S. George-Hyslop, B. Cordell, P. Fraser, and B. De Strooper. 1999. Presenilin 1 controls gamma-secretase processing of amyloid precursor protein in pre-golgi compartments of hippocampal neurons. *J. Cell Biol.* 147: 277–94.

121. Bergmans, B. A., and B. De Strooper. 2010. ?-secretases: from cell biology to therapeutic strategies. *Lancet Neurol.* 9: 215–226.

122. Pasternak, S. H., J. W. Callahan, and D. J. Mahuran. 2004. The role of the endosomal/lysosomal system in amyloid-beta production and the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease: reexamining the spatial paradox from a lysosomal perspective. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 6: 53–65.

123. Kaether, C., C. Haass, and H. Steiner. 2006. Assembly, Trafficking and Function of γ-Secretase. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 3: 275–283.

124. Nixon, R. A. 2007. Autophagy, amyloidogenesis and Alzheimer disease. *J. Cell Sci.* 120: 4081–4091.

125. Dries, D. R., and G. Yu. 2008. Assembly, maturation, and trafficking of the gammasecretase complex in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 5: 132–46.

126. Chow, V. W., M. P. Mattson, P. C. Wong, and M. Gleichmann. 2010. An overview of APP processing enzymes and products. *Neuromolecular Med.* 12: 1–12.

127. Pinnix, I., J. A. Ghiso, M. A. Pappolla, and K. Sambamurti. 2013. Major carboxyl terminal fragments generated by γ-secretase processing of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor are 50 and 51 amino acids long. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21: 474–83.

128. Ye, J., U. P. Dave, N. V. Grishin, J. L. Goldstein, M. S. Brown, D. Selkoe, Y. Ihara, E. Koo, C. Haass, K. Takio, M. Morishima-Kawashima, S. Ishiura, Y. Ihara, A. Smith, X. Shi, K. Yin, J. Shafer, S. Gardell, P. Pastor, J. Pérez-Tur, R. Relvas, C. Oliveira, M. Ribeiro, E. Rogaeva, A. Sa, L. Samaranch, R. Sánchez-Valle, I. Santana, L. Tàrraga, F. Valdivieso, A.

Singleton, J. Hardy, and J. Clarimón. 2000. Asparagine-proline sequence within membranespanning segment of SREBP triggers intramembrane cleavage by Site-2 protease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97: 5123–5128.

129. Bolduc, D. M., D. R. Montagna, M. C. Seghers, M. S. Wolfe, and D. J. Selkoe. 2016. The amyloid-beta forming tripeptide cleavage mechanism of ?-secretase. *Elife* 5.

130. Barlowe, C. K., and E. A. Miller. 2013. Secretory Protein Biogenesis and Traffic in the Early Secretory Pathway. *Genetics* 193: 383–410.

131. Delic, M., M. Valli, A. B. Graf, M. Pfeffer, D. Mattanovich, and B. Gasser. 2013. The secretory pathway: exploring yeast diversity. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 37: 872–914.

132. Farhan, H. 2015. Systems biology of the secretory pathway: What have we learned so far? *Biol. Cell* 107: 205–217.

133. Gao, C., Y. Cai, Y. Wang, B.-H. Kang, F. Aniento, D. G. Robinson, and L. Jiang. 2014.
Retention mechanisms for ER and Golgi membrane proteins. *Trends Plant Sci.* 19: 508–515.

134. Borgese, N. 2016. Getting membrane proteins on and off the shuttle bus between the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi complex. *J. Cell Sci.* 129: 1537–1545.

135. Guo, Y., D. W. Sirkis, and R. Schekman. 2014. Protein Sorting at the *trans* -Golgi Network. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 30: 169–206.

136. Spang, A. 2015. The Road not Taken: Less Traveled Roads from the TGN to the Plasma Membrane. *Membranes (Basel).* 5: 84–98.

137. Gallon, M., and P. J. Cullen. 2015. Retromer and sorting nexins in endosomal sorting. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 43: 33–47.

138. Ehrlich, M. 2016. Endocytosis and trafficking of BMP receptors: Regulatory mechanisms for fine-tuning the signaling response in different cellular contexts. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 27: 35–42.

139. Okiyoneda, T., and G. L. Lukacs. 2012. Fixing cystic fibrosis by correcting CFTR

domain assembly. J. Cell Biol. 199: 199-204.

140. Mellman, I., and Y. Yarden. 2013. Endocytosis and Cancer. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 5: a016949–a016949.

141. Pérez-Otaño, I., and M. D. Ehlers. 2005. Homeostatic plasticity and NMDA receptor trafficking. *Trends Neurosci.* 28: 229–38.

142. Song, I., and R. L. Huganir. 2002. Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends Neurosci.* 25: 578–88.

143. Malenka, R. C., R. C. Carroll, D. V. Lissin, M. von Zastrow, and R. A. Nicoll. 1999. Rapid redistribution of glutamate receptors contributes to long-term depression in hippocampal cultures. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2: 454–460.

144. Man, H. Y., J. W. Lin, W. H. Ju, G. Ahmadian, L. Liu, L. E. Becker, M. Sheng, and Y. T. Wang. 2000. Regulation of AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission by clathrindependent receptor internalization. *Neuron* 25: 649–62.

145. Wang, L. Y. 2000. The dynamic range for gain control of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission at a single synapse. *J. Neurosci.* 20: RC115.

146. Koo, E. H., S. L. Squazzo, D. J. Selkoe, and C. H. Koo. 1996. Trafficking of cell-surface amyloid beta-protein precursor. I. Secretion, endocytosis and recycling as detected by labeled monoclonal antibody. *J. Cell Sci.* 109 (Pt 5): 991–8.

147. Kuentzel, S. L., S. M. Ali, R. A. Altman, B. D. Greenberg, and T. J. Raub. 1993. The Alzheimer beta-amyloid protein precursor/protease nexin-II is cleaved by secretase in a trans-Golgi secretory compartment in human neuroglioma cells. *Biochem. J.* 295 (Pt 2): 367–78.

148. Sambamurti, K., L. M. Refolo, J. Shioi, M. A. Pappolla, and N. K. Robakis. 1992. The Alzheimer's amyloid precursor is cleaved intracellularly in the trans-Golgi network or in a post-Golgi compartment. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 674: 118–28.

149. Sambamurti, K., J. Shioi, J. P. Anderson, M. A. Pappolla, and N. K. Robakis. 1992.

Evidence for intracellular cleavage of the Alzheimer's amyloid precursor in PC12 cells. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 33: 319–329.

150. Gruenberg, J. 2001. The endocytic pathway: a mosaic of domains. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 2: 721–730.

151. Cavalli, V., M. Corti, and J. Gruenberg. 2001. Endocytosis and signaling cascades: a close encounter. *FEBS Lett.* 498: 190–6.

152. Sorkin, A., and M. von Zastrow. 2009. Endocytosis and signalling: intertwining molecular networks. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10: 609–622.

153. Rejman, J., V. Oberle, I. S. Zuhorn, and D. Hoekstra. 2004. Size-dependent internalization of particles via the pathways of clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis. *Biochem. J.* 377: 159–69.

154. Scott, C. C., F. Vacca, and J. Gruenberg. 2014. Endosome maturation, transport and functions. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 31: 2–10.

155. Hyttinen, J. M. T., M. Niittykoski, A. Salminen, and K. Kaarniranta. 2013. Maturation of autophagosomes and endosomes: A key role for Rab7. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res.* 1833: 503–510.

156. Huotari, J., and A. Helenius. 2011. Endosome maturation. *EMBO J.* 30: 3481–3500.
157. Boal, F., R. Mansour, M. Gayral, E. Saland, G. Chicanne, J.-M. Xuereb, M. Marcellin,
O. Burlet-Schiltz, P. J. Sansonetti, B. Payrastre, and H. Tronchere. 2015. TOM1 is a PI5P effector involved in the regulation of endosomal maturation. *J. Cell Sci.* 128: 815–827.
158. Manil-S?galen, M., E. Culetto, R. Legouis, and C. Lefebvre. 2014. Interactions Between Endosomal Maturation and Autophagy. In *Methods in enzymology* vol. 534. 93–118.

159. Hu, Y.-B., E. B. Dammer, R.-J. Ren, and G. Wang. 2015. The endosomal-lysosomal system: from acidification and cargo sorting to neurodegeneration. *Transl. Neurodegener.* 4:
18.

160. Mu, F. T., J. M. Callaghan, O. Steele-Mortimer, H. Stenmark, R. G. Parton, P. L. Campbell, J. McCluskey, J. P. Yeo, E. P. Tock, and B. H. Toh. 1995. EEA1, an early endosome-associated protein. EEA1 is a conserved alpha-helical peripheral membrane protein flanked by cysteine "fingers" and contains a calmodulin-binding IQ motif. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270: 13503–11.

161. Jovic, M., M. Sharma, J. Rahajeng, and S. Caplan. 2010. The early endosome: a busy sorting station for proteins at the crossroads. *Histol. Histopathol.* 25: 99–112. 162. Barysch, S. V, S. Aggarwal, R. Jahn, and S. O. Rizzoli. 2009. Sorting in early

endosomes reveals connections to docking- and fusion-associated factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106: 9697–702.

163. Grant, B. D., and J. G. Donaldson. 2009. Pathways and mechanisms of endocytic recycling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10: 597–608.

164. Maxfield, F. R., and T. E. McGraw. 2004. Endocytic recycling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*5: 121–132.

165. Babst, M. 2011. MVB vesicle formation: ESCRT-dependent, ESCRT-independent and everything in between. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 23: 452–7.

166. Piper, R. C., and D. J. Katzmann. 2007. Biogenesis and Function of Multivesicular Bodies. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 23: 519–547.

167. Bissig, C., and J. Gruenberg. 2013. Lipid Sorting and Multivesicular Endosome Biogenesis. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 5: a016816–a016816.

168. Trajkovic, K., C. Hsu, S. Chiantia, L. Rajendran, D. Wenzel, F. Wieland, P. Schwille, B. Brügger, and M. Simons. 2008. Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. *Science* 319: 1244–1247.

169. Eden, E. R., F. Huang, A. Sorkin, and C. E. Futter. 2012. The Role of EGF Receptor Ubiquitination in Regulating Its Intracellular Traffic. *Traffic* 13: 329–337.

170. Eden, E., T. Burgoyne, J. Edgar, A. Sorkin, and C. Futter. 2012. The relationship

between ER?multivesicular body membrane contacts and the ESCRT machinery. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 40: 464–468.

171. Futter, C. E., A. Pearse, L. J. Hewlett, and C. R. Hopkins. 1996. Multivesicular endosomes containing internalized EGF-EGF receptor complexes mature and then fuse directly with lysosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 132: 1011–23.

172. Lemmon, S. K., and L. M. Traub. 2000. Sorting in the endosomal system in yeast and animal cells. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 12: 457–66.

173. Sun, W., T. A. Vida, N. Sirisaengtaksin, S. A. Merrill, P. I. Hanson, and A. J. Bean.
2010. Cell-Free Reconstitution of Multivesicular Body Formation and Receptor Sorting. *Traffic* 11: 867–876.

174. Luzio, J. P., S. R. Gray, and N. a Bright. 2010. Endosome-lysosome fusion. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 38: 1413–1416.

175. Corrado, C., S. Raimondo, A. Chiesi, F. Ciccia, G. De Leo, and R. Alessandro. 2013. Exosomes as Intercellular Signaling Organelles Involved in Health and Disease: Basic Science and Clinical Applications. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14: 5338–5366.

176. Hurley, J. H., and G. Odorizzi. 2012. Get on the exosome bus with ALIX. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14: 654–5.

177. Frydrychowicz, M., A. Kolecka-Bednarczyk, M. Madejczyk, S. Yasar, and G. Dworacki. 2015. Exosomes - Structure, Biogenesis and Biological Role in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 81: 2–10.

178. Bobrie, A., M. Colombo, S. Krumeich, G. Raposo, and C. Thery. 2012. Diverse subpopulations of vesicles secreted by different intracellular mechanisms are present in exosome preparations obtained by differential ultracentrifugation. *J. Extracell. vesicles* 1.

179. Fader, C. M., and M. I. Colombo. 2009. Autophagy and multivesicular bodies: two closely related partners. *Cell Death Differ.* 16: 70–78.

180. Couzin, J. 2005. The Ins and Outs of Exosomes. Science (80-.). 308.

181. Al-Nedawi, K., B. Meehan, J. Micallef, V. Lhotak, L. May, A. Guha, and J. Rak. 2008. Intercellular transfer of the oncogenic receptor EGFRvIII by microvesicles derived from tumour cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10: 619–624.

182. Fauré, J., G. Lachenal, M. Court, J. Hirrlinger, C. Chatellard-Causse, B. Blot, J.
Grange, G. Schoehn, Y. Goldberg, V. Boyer, F. Kirchhoff, G. Raposo, J. Garin, and R.
Sadoul. 2006. Exosomes are released by cultured cortical neurones. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.*31: 642–648.

183. Valadi, H., K. Ekstr?m, A. Bossios, M. Sj?strand, J. J. Lee, and J. O. L?tvall. 2007. Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9: 654–659.

184. Théry, C., L. Zitvogel, and S. Amigorena. 2002. Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2: 569–579.

185. Baranyai, T., K. Herczeg, Z. On?di, I. Voszka, K. M?dos, N. Marton, G. Nagy, I. M?ger, M. J. Wood, S. El Andaloussi, Z. P?link?s, V. Kumar, P. Nagy, ?gnes Kittel, E. I. Buz?s, P. Ferdinandy, and Z. Giricz. 2015. Isolation of Exosomes from Blood Plasma: Qualitative and Quantitative Comparison of Ultracentrifugation and Size Exclusion Chromatography Methods. *PLoS One* 10: e0145686.

186. Street, J. M., P. E. Barran, C. L. Mackay, S. Weidt, C. Balmforth, T. S. Walsh, R. T. Chalmers, D. J. Webb, and J. W. Dear. 2012. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human cerebrospinal fluid. *J. Transl. Med.* 10: 5.

187. Stoorvogel, W., M. J. Kleijmeer, H. J. Geuze, and G. Raposo. 2002. The biogenesis and functions of exosomes. *Traffic* 3: 321–330.

188. Colombo, M., C. Moita, G. van Niel, J. Kowal, J. Vigneron, P. Benaroch, N. Manel, L. F. Moita, C. Théry, and G. Raposo. 2013. Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. *J. Cell Sci.* 126: 5553–65.

189. Chivet, M., C. Javalet, K. Laulagnier, and F. J. Hemming. 2014. Exosomes secreted by cortical neurons upon glutamatergic synapse activation specifically interact with neurons. 1: 1–10.

190. Chivet, M., F. Hemming, K. Pernet-Gallay, S. Fraboulet, and R. Sadoul. 2012.
Emerging role of neuronal exosomes in the central nervous system. *Front. Physiol.* 3: 145.
191. Lachenal, G., K. Pernet-Gallay, M. Chivet, F. J. Hemming, A. Belly, G. Bodon, B. Blot, G. Haase, Y. Goldberg, and R. Sadoul. 2011. Release of exosomes from differentiated neurons and its regulation by synaptic glutamatergic activity. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 46: 409–418.

192. Frühbeis, C., D. Fröhlich, W. P. Kuo, J. Amphornrat, S. Thilemann, A. S. Saab, F. Kirchhoff, W. Möbius, S. Goebbels, K.-A. Nave, A. Schneider, M. Simons, M. Klugmann, J. Trotter, and E.-M. Krämer-Albers. 2013. Neurotransmitter-Triggered Transfer of Exosomes Mediates Oligodendrocyte–Neuron Communication. *PLoS Biol.* 11: e1001604.

193. Caporaso, G. L., S. E. Gandy, J. D. Buxbaum, and P. Greengard. 1992. Chloroquine inhibits intracellular degradation but not secretion of Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid precursor protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89: 2252–6.

194. Rajendran, L., M. Honsho, T. R. Zahn, P. Keller, K. D. Geiger, P. Verkade, and K. Simons. 2006. Alzheimer's disease beta-amyloid peptides are released in association with exosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103: 11172–7.

195. Perez-Gonzalez, R., S. A. Gauthier, A. Kumar, and E. Levy. 2012. The exosome secretory pathway transports amyloid precursor protein carboxyl-terminal fragments from the cell into the brain extracellular space. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287: 43108–15.

196. Xiao, T., W. Zhang, B. Jiao, C.-Z. Pan, X. Liu, and L. Shen. 2017. The role of exosomes in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer' disease. *Transl. Neurodegener.* 6: 3. 197. Haass, C., E. H. Koo, A. Mellon, A. Y. Hung, and D. J. Selkoe. 1992. Targeting of cell-surface ?-amyloid precursor protein to lysosomes: alternative processing into amyloid-

bearing fragments. *Nature* 357: 500–503.

198. Rajendran, L., J. Bali, X. M. M. Barr, F. a Court, E. Kra, F. Picou, K. E. Van Der Vos, G. Van Niel, J. Wang, and X. O. Breakefield. 2014. Emerging Roles of Extracellular Vesicles in the Nervous System. *J. Neurosci.* 34: 15482–15489.

199. Perez-Gonzalez, R., S. A. Gauthier, A. Kumar, and E. Levy. 2012. The Exosome Secretory Pathway Transports Amyloid Precursor Protein Carboxyl-terminal Fragments from the Cell into the Brain Extracellular Space. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287: 43108–43115.

200. d'Azzo, A., A. Bongiovanni, and T. Nastasi. 2005. E3 ubiquitin ligases as regulators of membrane protein trafficking and degradation. *Traffic* 6: 429–41.

201. Bonifacino, J. S., and B. S. Glick. 2004. The mechanisms of vesicle budding and fusion. *Cell* 116: 153–66.

202. Hershko, A., and A. Ciechanover. 1998. THE UBIQUITIN SYSTEM. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 67: 425–479.

203. Wollert, T., and J. H. Hurley. 2010. Molecular mechanism of multivesicular body biogenesis by ESCRT complexes. *Nature* 464: 864–869.

204. Weissman, J. S., P. B. Sigler, and A. L. Horwich. 1995. From the cradle to the grave: ring complexes in the life of a protein. *Science* 268: 523–4.

205. Weissman, A. M., N. Shabek, and A. Ciechanover. 2011. The predator becomes the prey: regulating the ubiquitin system by ubiquitylation and degradation. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 12: 605–620.

206. Bonifacino, J. S., and A. M. Weissman. 1998. UBIQUITIN AND THE CONTROL OF PROTEIN FATE IN THE SECRETORY AND ENDOCYTIC PATHWAYS. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 14: 19–57.

207. Fang, S., and A. M. Weissman. 2004. Ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 61: 1546–61.

208. Weissman, A. M. 2001. Themes and variations on ubiquitylation. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell

Biol. 2: 169–178.

209. Bonifacino, J. S., and A. M. Weissman. 1998. UBIQUITIN AND THE CONTROL OF PROTEIN FATE IN THE SECRETORY AND ENDOCYTIC PATHWAYS 1. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol* 14: 19–57.

210. Neutzner, M., and A. Neutzner. 2012. Enzymes of ubiquitination and deubiquitination. *Essays Biochem.* 52: 37–50.

211. Ye, Y., and M. Rape. 2009. Building ubiquitin chains: E2 enzymes at work. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10: 755–64.

212. van Wijk, S. J. L., and H. T. M. Timmers. 2010. The family of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s): deciding between life and death of proteins. *FASEB J.* 24: 981–993.

213. Stewart, M. D., T. Ritterhoff, R. E. Klevit, and P. S. Brzovic. 2016. E2 enzymes: more than just middle men. *Cell Res.* 26: 423–440.

214. Berndsen, C. E., and C. Wolberger. 2014. New insights into ubiquitin E3 ligase mechanism. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 21: 301–307.

215. Metzger, M. B., J. N. Pruneda, R. E. Klevit, and A. M. Weissman. 2014. RING-type E3
ligases: Master manipulators of E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes and ubiquitination. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res.* 1843: 47–60.

216. Kuang, E., J. Qi, and Z. Ronai. 2013. Emerging roles of E3 ubiquitin ligases in autophagy. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 38: 453–60.

217. Tanno, H., and M. Komada. 2013. The ubiquitin code and its decoding machinery in the endocytic pathway. *J. Biochem.* 153: 497–504.

218. Deshaies, R. J., and C. A. P. Joazeiro. 2009. RING Domain E3 Ubiquitin Ligases. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 78: 399–434.

219. Ndubaku, C., and V. Tsui. 2015. Inhibiting the Deubiquitinating Enzymes (DUBs). *J. Med. Chem.* 58: 1581–1595.

220. Eletr, Z. M., and K. D. Wilkinson. 2014. Regulation of proteolysis by human

deubiquitinating enzymes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. 1843: 114–128.

221. Hanpude, P., S. Bhattacharya, A. K. Dey, and T. K. Maiti. 2015. Deubiquitinating enzymes in cellular signaling and disease regulation. *IUBMB Life* 67: 544–555.

222. Wolberger, C. 2014. Mechanisms for regulating deubiquitinating enzymes. *Protein Sci.* 23: 344–353.

223. He, M., Z. Zhou, A. A. Shah, H. Zou, J. Tao, Q. Chen, and Y. Wan. 2016. The emerging role of deubiquitinating enzymes in genomic integrity, diseases, and therapeutics. *Cell Biosci.* 6: 62.

224. Sadowski, M., R. Suryadinata, A. R. Tan, S. N. A. Roesley, and B. Sarcevic. 2012. Protein monoubiquitination and polyubiquitination generate structural diversity to control distinct biological processes. *IUBMB Life* 64: 136–142.

225. Ramanathan, H. N., and Y. Ye. 2012. Cellular strategies for making monoubiquitin signals. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 47: 17–28.

226. Livneh, I., Y. Kravtsova-Ivantsiv, O. Braten, Y. T. Kwon, and A. Ciechanover. 2017. Monoubiquitination joins polyubiquitination as an esteemed proteasomal targeting signal. *BioEssays* 39: e201700027.

227. Haglund, K., P. P. Di Fiore, and I. Dikic. 2003. Distinct monoubiquitin signals in receptor endocytosis. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 28: 598–604.

228. Schmukle, A. C., and H. Walczak. 2012. No one can whistle a symphony alone - how different ubiquitin linkages cooperate to orchestrate NF- B activity. *J. Cell Sci.* 125: 549–559.
229. Lim, K.-L., and G. G. Y. Lim. 2011. K63-linked ubiquitination and neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 43: 9–16.

230. Kaiser, P., and C. Tagwerker. 2005. Is This Protein Ubiquitinated? In *Methods in enzymology* vol. 399. 243–248.

231. Nathan, J. A., H. Tae Kim, L. Ting, S. P. Gygi, and A. L. Goldberg. 2013. Why do cellular proteins linked to K63-polyubiquitin chains not associate with proteasomes? *EMBO*
J. 32: 552–565.

232. Pickart, C. M. 1997. Targeting of substrates to the 26S proteasome. *FASEB J.* 11: 1055–66.

233. Schrader, E. K., K. G. Harstad, and A. Matouschek. 2009. Targeting proteins for degradation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 5: 815–22.

234. Needham, P. G., and J. L. Brodsky. 2013. How early studies on secreted and membrane protein quality control gave rise to the ER associated degradation (ERAD) pathway: The early history of ERAD. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res.* 1833: 2447–2457.

235. Babst, M. 2014. Quality control at the plasma membrane: One mechanism does not fit all. *J. Cell Biol.* 205.

236. Tai, H.-C., and E. M. Schuman. 2008. Ubiquitin, the proteasome and protein degradation in neuronal function and dysfunction. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9: 826–838.
237. Hicke, L. 1999. Gettin' down with ubiquitin: turning off cell-surface receptors, transporters and channels. *Trends Cell Biol.* 9: 107–12.

238. Rotin, D., O. Staub, and R. Haguenauer-Tsapis. 2000. Ubiquitination and endocytosis of plasma membrane proteins: role of Nedd4/Rsp5p family of ubiquitin-protein ligases. *J. Membr. Biol.* 176: 1–17.

239. Yarden, Y., J. A. Escobedo, W. J. Kuang, T. L. Yang-Feng, T. O. Daniel, P. M.

Tremble, E. Y. Chen, M. E. Ando, R. N. Harkins, U. Francke, V. A. Fried, A. Ullrich, and L. T. Williams. 1986. Structure of the receptor for platelet-derived growth factor helps define a family of closely related growth factor receptors. *Nature* 323: 226–32.

240. Cenciarelli, C., K. G. Wilhelm, A. Guo, and A. M. Weissman. 1996. T cell antigen receptor ubiquitination is a consequence of receptor-mediated tyrosine kinase activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271: 8709–13.

241. Strous, G. J., P. van Kerkhof, R. Govers, A. Ciechanover, and A. L. Schwartz. 1996.

The ubiquitin conjugation system is required for ligand-induced endocytosis and degradation of the growth hormone receptor. *EMBO J.* 15: 3806–12.

242. Strous, G. J., P. van Kerkhof, R. Govers, P. Rotwein, and A. L. Schwartz. 1997. Growth hormone-induced signal tranduction depends on an intact ubiquitin system. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272: 40–3.

243. Huang, Y., S.-O. Kim, J. Jiang, and S. J. Frank. 2003. Growth hormone-induced phosphorylation of epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor in 3T3-F442A cells. Modulation of EGF-induced trafficking and signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278: 18902–13.

244. Stang, E., F. D. Blystad, M. Kazazic, V. Bertelsen, T. Brodahl, C. Raiborg, H.

Stenmark, and I. H. Madshus. 2004. Cbl-dependent Ubiquitination Is Required for

Progression of EGF Receptors into Clathrin-coated Pits. Mol. Biol. Cell 15: 3591–3604.

245. Huang, F., L. K. Goh, and A. Sorkin. 2007. EGF receptor ubiquitination is not necessary for its internalization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104: 16904–16909.

246. Huang, F., D. Kirkpatrick, X. Jiang, S. Gygi, and A. Sorkin. 2006. Differential Regulation of EGF Receptor Internalization and Degradation by Multiubiquitination within the Kinase Domain. *Mol. Cell* 21: 737–748.

247. Fortian, A., L. K. Dionne, S. H. Hong, W. Kim, S. P. Gygi, S. C. Watkins, and A. Sorkin. 2015. Endocytosis of Ubiquitylation-Deficient EGFR Mutants via Clathrin-Coated Pits is Mediated by Ubiquitylation. *Traffic* 16: 1137–1154.

248. Tomas, A., S. O. Vaughan, T. Burgoyne, A. Sorkin, J. A. Hartley, D. Hochhauser, and

C. E. Futter. 2015. WASH and Tsg101/ALIX-dependent diversion of stress-internalized EGFR from the canonical endocytic pathway. *Nat. Commun.* 6: 7324.

249. Lauwers, E., Z. Erpapazoglou, R. Haguenauer-Tsapis, and B. André. 2010. The ubiquitin code of yeast permease trafficking. *Trends Cell Biol.* 20: 196–204.

250. Hislop, J. N., and M. von Zastrow. 2011. Role of Ubiquitination in Endocytic Trafficking of G-Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Traffic* 12: 137–148.

251. Shih, S. C., G. Prag, S. A. Francis, M. A. Sutanto, J. H. Hurley, and L. Hicke. 2003. A ubiquitin-binding motif required for intramolecular monoubiquitylation, the CUE domain. *EMBO J.* 22: 1273–81.

252. Razi, M., and C. E. Futter. 2006. Distinct Roles for Tsg101 and Hrs in Multivesicular Body Formation and Inward Vesiculation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17: 3469–3483.

253. Eden, E. R., I. J. White, and C. E. Futter. 2009. Down-regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor signalling within multivesicular bodies: Figure 1. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 37: 173–177.

254. Woodman, P. G., and C. E. Futter. 2008. Multivesicular bodies: co-ordinated progression to maturity. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 20: 408–414.

255. Hurley, J. H., and S. D. Emr. 2006. THE ESCRT COMPLEXES: Structure and Mechanism of a Membrane-Trafficking Network. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct.* 35: 277–298.

256. Katzmann, D. J., M. Babst, and S. D. Emr. 2001. Ubiquitin-dependent sorting into the multivesicular body pathway requires the function of a conserved endosomal protein sorting complex, ESCRT-I. *Cell* 106: 145–55.

257. Raiborg, C., and H. Stenmark. 2009. The ESCRT machinery in endosomal sorting of ubiquitylated membrane proteins. *Nature* 458: 445–452.

258. Wegner, C. S., C. S. Wegener, L. Malerød, N. M. Pedersen, C. Progida, C. Prodiga, O. Bakke, H. Stenmark, and A. Brech. 2010. Ultrastructural characterization of giant endosomes induced by GTPase-deficient Rab5. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 133: 41–55.

259. Rothman, J. H., T. H. Stevens, K. Urech, K. von Figura, A. van Elsen, J. G. Leroy, and

J. Marmur. 1986. Protein sorting in yeast: mutants defective in vacuole biogenesis

mislocalize vacuolar proteins into the late secretory pathway. Cell 47: 1041-51.

260. Rothman, J. E., and F. T. Wieland. 1996. Protein sorting by transport vesicles. *Science* 272: 227–34.

261. Rothman, J. H., I. Howald, and T. H. Stevens. 1989. Characterization of genes required for protein sorting and vacuolar function in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *EMBO J.* 8: 2057–65.

262. Raymond, C. K., I. Howald-Stevenson, C. A. Vater, and T. H. Stevens. 1992.

Morphological classification of the yeast vacuolar protein sorting mutants: evidence for a prevacuolar compartment in class E vps mutants. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 3: 1389–402.

263. Coonrod, E. M., and T. H. Stevens. 2010. The yeast vps class E mutants: the beginning of the molecular genetic analysis of multivesicular body biogenesis. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21: 4057–60.

264. Henne, W. M., N. J. Buchkovich, and S. D. Emr. 2011. The ESCRT Pathway. *Dev. Cell* 21: 77–91.

265. Bilodeau, P. S., S. C. Winistorfer, W. R. Kearney, A. D. Robertson, and R. C. Piper. 2003. Vps27-Hse1 and ESCRT-I complexes cooperate to increase efficiency of sorting ubiquitinated proteins at the endosome. *J. Cell Biol.* 163: 237–43.

266. Luzio, J. P., S. C. Piper, K. Bowers, M. D. J. Parkinson, P. J. Lehner, and N. a Bright. 2009. ESCRT proteins and the regulation of endocytic delivery to lysosomes. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 37: 178–180.

267. Luzio, J. P., B. a Rous, N. a Bright, P. R. Pryor, B. M. Mullock, and R. C. Piper. 2000. Lysosome-endosome fusion and lysosome biogenesis. *J. Cell Sci.* 113 (Pt 9: 1515–1524.

268. Schmidt, O., and D. Teis. 2012. The ESCRT machinery. Curr. Biol. 22: R116-20.

269. Mattissek, C., and D. Teis. 2014. The role of the endosomal sorting complexes

required for transport (ESCRT) in tumorigenesis. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 31: 111–9.

270. Von Bartheld, C. S., and A. L. Altick. 2011. Multivesicular bodies in neurons:

Distribution, protein content, and trafficking functions. Prog. Neurobiol. 93: 313–340.

271. Richardson, S. C. W., S. C. Winistorfer, V. Poupon, J. P. Luzio, and R. C. Piper. 2004.

Mammalian late vacuole protein sorting orthologues participate in early endosomal fusion

and interact with the cytoskeleton. Mol. Biol. Cell 15: 1197-210.

272. Raiborg, C., K. Grønvold Bache, A. Mehlum, E. Stang, and H. Stenmark. 2001. Hrs recruits clathrin to early endosomes. *EMBO J.* 20: 5008–5021.

273. Raiborg, C., and H. Stenmark. 2009. The ESCRT machinery in endosomal sorting of ubiquitylated membrane proteins. *Nature* 458: 445–452.

274. Komada, M., and P. Soriano. 1999. Hrs, a FYVE finger protein localized to early endosomes, is implicated in vesicular traffic and required for ventral folding morphogenesis. *Genes Dev.* 13: 1475–85.

275. Zage, P. E., N. Sirisaengtaksin, Y. Liu, M. Gireud, B. S. Brown, S. Palla, K. N.

Richards, D. P. M. Hughes, and A. J. Bean. 2013. UBE4B levels are correlated with clinical outcomes in neuroblastoma patients and with altered neuroblastoma cell proliferation and sensitivity to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors. *Cancer* 119: 915–923.

276. Gaullier, J.-M., A. Simonsen, A. D'Arrigo, B. Bremnes, H. Stenmark, and R. Aasland. 1998. FYVE fingers bind PtdIns(3)P. *Nature* 394: 432–433.

277. Gillooly, D. J., I. C. Morrow, M. Lindsay, R. Gould, N. J. Bryant, J. M. Gaullier, R. G. Parton, and H. Stenmark. 2000. Localization of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate in yeast and mammalian cells. *EMBO J.* 19: 4577–88.

278. Hayakawa, A., and N. Kitamura. 2000. Early Endosomal Localization of Hrs Requires a Sequence within the Proline-and Glutamine-rich Region, but not the FYVE Finger* as Manuscript M002696200.

279. Bache, K. G., A. Brech, A. Mehlum, and H. Stenmark. 2003. Hrs regulates
multivesicular body formation via ESCRT recruitment to endosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 162: 435–442.

280. Bassereau, P. 2010. Division of labour in ESCRT complexes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12: 422–423.

281. Pons, V., P.-P. Luyet, E. Morel, L. Abrami, F. G. van der Goot, R. G. Parton, and J.

Gruenberg. 2008. Hrs and SNX3 Functions in Sorting and Membrane Invagination within Multivesicular Bodies. *PLoS Biol.* 6: e214.

282. Nickerson, D. P., M. R. G. Russell, and G. Odorizzi. 2007. A concentric circle model of multivesicular body cargo sorting. *EMBO Rep.* 8: 644–50.

283. Contino, G., F. Amati, S. Pucci, E. Pontieri, F. Pichiorri, A. Novelli, A. Botta, R. Mango, A. M. Nardone, F. C. Sangiuolo, G. Citro, L. G. Spagnoli, and G. Novelli. 2004. Expression analysis of the gene encoding for the U-box-type ubiquitin ligase UBE4A in human tissues. *Gene* 328: 69–74.

284. Koegl, M., T. Hoppe, S. Schlenker, H. D. Ulrich, T. U. Mayer, and S. Jentsch. 1999. A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. *Cell* 96: 635–44.

285. Kaneko, C., S. Hatakeyama, M. Matsumoto, M. Yada, K. Nakayama, and K. I.

Nakayama. 2003. Characterization of the mouse gene for the U-box-type ubiquitin ligase UFD2a. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 300: 297–304.

286. Mammen, A. L., J. A. Mahoney, A. St. Germain, N. Badders, J. P. Taylor, A. Rosen,

and S. Spinette. 2011. A Novel Conserved Isoform of the Ubiquitin Ligase UFD2a/UBE4B Is

Expressed Exclusively in Mature Striated Muscle Cells. PLoS One 6: e28861.

287. Nordquist, K. A., Y. N. Dimitrova, P. S. Brzovic, W. B. Ridenour, K. A. Munro, S. E.

Soss, R. M. Caprioli, R. E. Klevit, and W. J. Chazin. 2010. Structural and Functional

Characterization of the Monomeric U-Box Domain from E4B. *Biochemistry* 49: 347–355.

288. Aravind, L., and E. V Koonin. 2000. The U box is a modified RING finger - a common domain in ubiquitination. *Curr. Biol.* 10: R132-4.

289. Kaneko-Oshikawa, C., T. Nakagawa, M. Yamada, H. Yoshikawa, M. Matsumoto, M. Yada, S. Hatakeyama, K. Nakayama, and K. I. Nakayama. 2005. Mammalian E4 is required for cardiac development and maintenance of the nervous system. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25: 10953–64.

290. Spinette, S., C. Lengauer, J. A. Mahoney, P. V Jallepalli, Z. Wang, L. Casciola-Rosen,

and A. Rosen. 2004. Ufd2, a novel autoantigen in scleroderma, regulates sister chromatid separation. *Cell Cycle* 3: 1638–44.

291. Benirschke, R. C., J. R. Thompson, Y. Nominé, E. Wasielewski, N. Juranić, S. Macura, S. Hatakeyama, K. I. Nakayama, M. V. Botuyan, and G. Mer. 2010. Molecular basis for the association of human E4B U box ubiquitin ligase with E2-conjugating enzymes UbcH5c and Ubc4. *Structure* 18: 955–65.

292. Matsumoto, M., M. Yada, S. Hatakeyama, H. Ishimoto, T. Tanimura, S. Tsuji, A. Kakizuka, M. Kitagawa, and K. I. Nakayama. 2004. Molecular clearance of ataxin-3 is regulated by a mammalian E4. *EMBO J.* 23: 659–669.

293. Hatakeyama, S., M. Yada, M. Matsumoto, N. Ishida, and K. I. Nakayama. 2001. U box proteins as a new family of ubiquitin-protein ligases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276: 33111–20.

294. Mack, T. G. A., M. Reiner, B. Beirowski, W. Mi, M. Emanuelli, D. Wagner, D. Thomson,

T. Gillingwater, F. Court, L. Conforti, F. S. Fernando, A. Tarlton, C. Andressen, K. Addicks,

G. Magni, R. R. Ribchester, V. H. Perry, and M. P. Coleman. 2001. Wallerian degeneration of injured axons and synapses is delayed by a Ube4b/Nmnat chimeric gene. *Nat. Neurosci.*4: 1199–1206.

295. Wu, H., S. L. Pomeroy, M. Ferreira, N. Teider, J. Mariani, K. I. Nakayama, S.

Hatakeyama, V. A. Tron, L. F. Saltibus, L. Spyracopoulos, and R. P. Leng. 2011. UBE4B promotes Hdm2-mediated degradation of the tumor suppressor p53. *Nat. Med.* 17: 347–355.

296. Sirisaengtaksin, N., M. Gireud, Q. Yan, Y. Kubota, D. Meza, J. C. Waymire, P. E. Zage, and A. J. Bean. 2014. UBE4B Protein Couples Ubiquitination and Sorting Machineries to Enable Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Degradation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289: 3026– 3039.

297. Gruninger-Leitch, F., D. Schlatter, E. K?ng, P. Nelb?ck, and H. D?beli. 2002. Substrate and Inhibitor Profile of BACE (?-Secretase) and Comparison with Other Mammalian Aspartic

Proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 4687–4693.

298. Pastorino, L., A. F. Ikin, A. C. Nairn, A. Pursnani, and J. D. Buxbaum. 2002. The Carboxyl-Terminus of BACE Contains a Sorting Signal That Regulates BACE Trafficking but Not the Formation of Total Aβ. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 19: 175–185.

299. Das, U., L. Wang, A. Ganguly, J. M. Saikia, S. L. Wagner, E. H. Koo, and S. Roy. 2016. Visualizing APP and BACE-1 approximation in neurons yields insight into the amyloidogenic pathway. *Nat. Neurosci.* 19: 55–64.

300. Das, U., D. A. Scott, A. Ganguly, E. H. Koo, Y. Tang, and S. Roy. 2013. Activityinduced convergence of APP and BACE-1 in acidic microdomains via an endocytosisdependent pathway. *Neuron* 79: 447–60.

301. Qing, H., W. Zhou, M. A. Christensen, X. Sun, Y. Tong, and W. Song. 2004.

Degradation of BACE by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. FASEB J. 18: 1571–3.

302. Zhang, M., Y. Deng, Y. Luo, S. Zhang, H. Zou, F. Cai, K. Wada, and W. Song. 2012.

Control of BACE1 degradation and APP processing by ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase

L1. J. Neurochem. 120: no-no.

303. Sannerud, R., I. Declerck, A. Peric, T. Raemaekers, G. Menendez, L. Zhou, B. Veerle, K. Coen, S. Munck, B. De Strooper, G. Schiavo, and W. Annaert. 2011. ADP ribosylation factor 6 (ARF6) controls amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing by mediating the endosomal sorting of BACE1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 108: E559–E568.

304. Wahle, T., K. Prager, N. Raffler, C. Haass, M. Famulok, and J. Walter. 2005. GGA proteins regulate retrograde transport of BACE1 from endosomes to the trans-Golgi network. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 29: 453–461.

305. Choy, R. W.-Y., Z. Cheng, and R. Schekman. 2012. Amyloid precursor protein (APP) traffics from the cell surface via endosomes for amyloid (A) production in the trans-Golgi network. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 109: E2077–E2082.

306. Morel, E., Z. Chamoun, Z. M. Lasiecka, R. B. Chan, R. L. Williamson, C. Vetanovetz,

C. Dall'Armi, S. Simoes, K. S. Point Du Jour, B. D. McCabe, S. A. Small, and G. Di Paolo.
2013. Phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate regulates sorting and processing of amyloid
precursor protein through the endosomal system. *Nat Commun* 4.

307. Edgar, J. R., K. Willen, G. K. Gouras, and C. E. Futter. 2015. ESCRTs regulate amyloid precursor protein sorting in multivesicular bodies and intracellular amyloid-? accumulation. *J. Cell Sci.* 128: 2520–2528.

308. Kawai, M., P. Cras, P. Richey, M. Tabaton, D. E. Lowery, P. A. Gonzalez-DeWhitt, B.
D. Greenberg, P. Gambetti, and G. Perry. 1992. Subcellular localization of amyloid precursor protein in senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140: 947–58.
309. Zheng, H., E. H. Koo, K. White, and M. Tessier-Lavigne. 2011. Biology and pathophysiology of the amyloid precursor protein. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 6: 27.

310. Chaufty, J., S. E. Sullivan, and A. Ho. 2012. Intracellular amyloid precursor protein sorting and amyloid-β secretion are regulated by Src-mediated phosphorylation of Mint2. *J. Neurosci.* 32: 9613–25.

311. Ehehalt, R., P. Keller, C. Haass, C. Thiele, and K. Simons. 2003. Amyloidogenic processing of the Alzheimer beta-amyloid precursor protein depends on lipid rafts. *J. Cell Biol.* 160: 113–23.

312. Carey, R. M., B. A. Balcz, I. Lopez-Coviella, and B. E. Slack. 2005. Inhibition of dynamin-dependent endocytosis increases shedding of the amyloid precursor protein ectodomain and reduces generation of amyloid beta protein. *BMC Cell Biol.* 6: 30.

313. Koo, E. H., and S. L. Squazzo. 1994. Evidence that production and release of amyloid beta-protein involves the endocytic pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269: 17386–9.

314. Perez, R. G., S. Soriano, J. D. Hayes, B. Ostaszewski, W. Xia, D. J. Selkoe, X. Chen,
G. B. Stokin, and E. H. Koo. 1999. Mutagenesis identifies new signals for beta-amyloid precursor protein endocytosis, turnover, and the generation of secreted fragments, including Abeta42. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274: 18851–6.

315. Cirrito, J. R., J. E. Kang, J. Lee, F. R. Stewart, D. K. Verges, L. M. Silverio, G. Bu, S.
Mennerick, and D. M. Holtzman. 2008. Endocytosis Is Required for Synaptic ActivityDependent Release of Amyloid-β In Vivo. *Neuron* 58: 42–51.

316. Cirrito, J. R., K. A. Yamada, M. B. Finn, R. S. Sloviter, K. R. Bales, P. C. May, D. D.

Schoepp, S. M. Paul, S. Mennerick, and D. M. Holtzman. 2005. Synaptic Activity Regulates Interstitial Fluid Amyloid-? Levels In Vivo. *Neuron* 48: 913–922.

317. Kamenetz, F., T. Tomita, H. Hsieh, G. Seabrook, D. Borchelt, T. Iwatsubo, S. Sisodia, and R. Malinow. 2003. APP processing and synaptic function. *Neuron* 37: 925–37.

318. Sullivan, S. E., G. M. Dillon, J. M. Sullivan, and A. Ho. 2014. Mint Proteins Are

Required for Synaptic Activity-dependent Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) Trafficking and Amyloid ? Generation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289: 15374–15383.

319. Watanabe, T., Y. Hikichi, A. Willuweit, Y. Shintani, and T. Horiguchi. 2012. FBL2 Regulates Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) Metabolism by Promoting Ubiquitination-Dependent APP Degradation and Inhibition of APP Endocytosis. *J. Neurosci.* 32: 3352– 3365.

320. LaFerla, F. M. 2002. Calcium dyshomeostasis and intracellular signalling in alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3: 862–872.

321. Pacifici, M., and F. Peruzzi. 2012. Isolation and Culture of Rat Embryonic Neural Cells: A Quick Protocol. *J. Vis. Exp.* e3965.

322. Felix, J., M. Manchon, N.-E. Uzor, Y. Dabaghian, E. E. Furr-Stimming, S. Finkbeiner, and A. S. Tsvetkov. 2015. Cytoplasmic sphingosine-1- phosphate pathway modulates neuronal autophagy. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* .

323. Singer-Krugersg, B., R. Frankll, F. Crausazs, and H. Riezmans. 1993. THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY Partial Purification and Characterization of Early and Late Endosomes from Yeast IDENTIFICATION OF FOUR NOVEL PROTEINS*. 268: 14376– 14366. 324. de Ara?jo, M. E. G., G. Lamberti, and L. A. Huber. 2015. Isolation of Early and Late Endosomes by Density Gradient Centrifugation. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2015: pdb.prot083444.

325. Whittle, S. B., S. Reyes, M. Du, M. Gireud, L. Zhang, S. E. Woodfield, M. Ittmann, M. E. Scheurer, A. J. Bean, and P. E. Zage. 2016. A Polymorphism in the FGFR4 Gene Is Associated With Risk of Neuroblastoma and Altered Receptor Degradation. *J. Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol.* 38: 131–8.

326. Ara?jo, M., L. A. Hube, and T. Stasyk. 2008. Isolation of Endocitic Organelles by Density Gradient Centrifugation. In *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)* vol. 424. 317–331.

327. Kobayashi, T., M.-H. Beuchat, J. Chevallier, A. Makino, N. Mayran, J.-M. Escola, C.
Lebrand, P. Cosson, T. Kobayashi, and J. Gruenberg. 2002. Separation and
Characterization of Late Endosomal Membrane Domains. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277: 32157–32164.
328. Lorenz, H., D. W. Hailey, C. Wunder, and J. Lippincott-Schwartz. 2006. The
fluorescence protease protection (FPP) assay to determine protein localization and
membrane topology. *Nat. Protoc.* 1: 276–279.

329. Spang, A., and R. Schekman. 1998. Reconstitution of retrograde transport from the Golgi to the ER in vitro. *J. Cell Biol.* 143: 589–99.

330. Uemura, K., K. C. Farner, N. Nasser-Ghodsi, P. Jones, and O. Berezovska. 2011. Reciprocal relationship between APP positioning relative to the membrane and PS1 conformation. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 6: 15.

331. Asada-Utsugi, M., K. Uemura, Y. Noda, A. Kuzuya, M. Maesako, K. Ando, M. Kubota, K. Watanabe, M. Takahashi, T. Kihara, S. Shimohama, R. Takahashi, O. Berezovska, and A. Kinoshita. 2011. N-cadherin enhances APP dimerization at the extracellular domain and modulates Aβ production. *J. Neurochem.* 119: 354–63.

332. Tang, B. L. 2009. Neuronal protein trafficking associated with Alzheimer disease: from

APP and BACE1 to glutamate receptors. Cell Adh. Migr. 3: 118–28.

333. Sano, Y., A. Syuzo-Takabatake, T. Nakaya, Y. Saito, S. Tomita, S. Itohara, and T. Suzuki. 2006. Enhanced Amyloidogenic Metabolism of the Amyloid ?-Protein Precursor in the X11L-deficient Mouse Brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281: 37853–37860.

334. Jiang, S., Y. Li, X. Zhang, G. Bu, H. Xu, Y. Zhang, D. Di Marino, B. Borroni, A. Tramontano, I. Perez-Otano, and M. Di Luca. 2014. Trafficking regulation of proteins in Alzheimer?s disease. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 9: 6.

335. Cataldo, A. M., S. Petanceska, N. B. Terio, C. M. Peterhoff, R. Durham, M. Mercken, P. D. Mehta, J. Buxbaum, V. Haroutunian, and R. A. Nixon. 2004. Aβ localization in abnormal endosomes: association with earliest Aβ elevations in AD and Down syndrome. *Neurobiol. Aging* 25: 1263–1272.

336. Yu, W. H., A. M. Cuervo, A. Kumar, C. M. Peterhoff, S. D. Schmidt, J.-H. Lee, P. S.
Mohan, M. Mercken, M. R. Farmery, L. O. Tjernberg, Y. Jiang, K. Duff, Y. Uchiyama, J.
Näslund, P. M. Mathews, A. M. Cataldo, and R. A. Nixon. 2005. Macroautophagy--a novel
Beta-amyloid peptide-generating pathway activated in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Cell Biol.* 171:
87–98.

337. Kinoshita, A., H. Fukumoto, T. Shah, C. M. Whelan, M. C. Irizarry, and B. T. Hyman. 2003. Demonstration by FRET of BACE interaction with the amyloid precursor protein at the cell surface and in early endosomes. *J. Cell Sci.* 116: 3339–3346.

338. Prasad, H., and R. Rao. NHE6 regulates Aβ production in endosomes The Na + /H + Exchanger NHE6 Modulates Endosomal pH to Control Processing of Amyloid Precursor Protein in a Cell Culture Model of Alzheimer Disease*.

339. Vassar, R., D. M. Kovacs, R. Yan, and P. C. Wong. 2009. The beta-secretase enzyme BACE in health and Alzheimer's disease: regulation, cell biology, function, and therapeutic potential. *J. Neurosci.* 29: 12787–94.

340. Ben Halima, S., S. Mishra, K. M. P. Raja, M. Willem, A. Baici, K. Simons, O. Brüstle, P.

Koch, C. Haass, A. Caflisch, and L. Rajendran. 2016. Specific Inhibition of β-Secretase
Processing of the Alzheimer Disease Amyloid Precursor Protein. *Cell Rep.* 14: 2127–2141.
341. Wisniewski, T., and E. M. Sigurdsson. 2010. Murine models of Alzheimer's disease and
their use in developing immunotherapies. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1802: 847–59.
342. Lecanu, L., and V. Papadopoulos. 2013. Modeling Alzheimer's disease with non-

transgenic rat models. Alzheimers. Res. Ther. 5: 17.

343. LaFerla, F. M., and K. N. Green. 2012. Animal models of Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2.

344. Kitazawa, M., R. Medeiros, and F. M. Laferla. 2012. Transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer disease: developing a better model as a tool for therapeutic interventions. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 18: 1131–47.

345. Banker, G. A., and W. M. Cowan. 1977. Rat hippocampal neurons in dispersed cell culture. *Brain Res.* 126: 397–425.

346. Lesuisse, C., and L. J. Martin. 2002. Long-Term Culture of Mouse Cortical Neurons as a Model for Neuronal Development, Aging, and Death. *J NeurobiolScience* 51: 9–23.

347. Crofts, A. J., N. Leborgne-Castel, S. Hillmer, D. G. Robinson, B. Phillipson, L. E.

Carlsson, D. A. Ashford, and J. Denecke. 1999. Saturation of the Endoplasmic Reticulum Retention Machinery Reveals Anterograde Bulk Flow. *Plant Cell Online* 11.

348. Warren, R. A., F. A. Green, and C. A. Enns. 1997. Saturation of the endocytic pathway for the transferrin receptor does not affect the endocytosis of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272: 2116–21.

349. Lou, X., S. Paradise, S. M. Ferguson, and P. De Camilli. 2008. Selective saturation of slow endocytosis at a giant glutamatergic central synapse lacking dynamin 1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105: 17555–60.

350. Kam, W. W.-Y., R. Middleton, V. Lake, and R. B. Banati. 2013. Green Fluorescent Protein Alters the Transcriptional Regulation of Human Mitochondrial Genes After Gamma Irradiation. J. Fluoresc. 23: 613–619.

351. Dass, C. R., and P. F. Choong. 2007. GFP Expression Alters Osteosarcoma Cell Biology. *DNA Cell Biol.* 26: 599–601.

352. Sekar, R. B., E. Kizana, R. R. Smith, A. S. Barth, Y. Zhang, E. Marban, and L. Tung. 2007. Lentiviral vector-mediated expression of GFP or Kir2.1 alters the electrophysiology of neonatal rat ventricular myocytes without inducing cytotoxicity. *AJP Hear. Circ. Physiol.* 293: H2757–H2770.

353. Farr, G. A., M. Hull, E. H. Stoops, R. Bateson, and M. J. Caplan. 2015. Dual pulsechase microscopy reveals early divergence in the biosynthetic trafficking of the Na,K-ATPase and E-cadherin. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26: 4401–11.

354. Bright, N. A., M. J. Gratian, and J. P. Luzio. 2005. Endocytic Delivery to Lysosomes
Mediated by Concurrent Fusion and Kissing Events in Living Cells. *Curr. Biol.* 15: 360–365.
355. Dunn, K. W., and F. R. Maxfield. Delivery of Ligands from Sorting Endosomes to Late
Endosomes Occurs by Maturation of Sorting Endosomes. .

356. Uchida, Y., J. Hasegawa, D. Chinnapen, T. Inoue, S. Okazaki, R. Kato, S. Wakatsuki, R. Misaki, M. Koike, Y. Uchiyama, S. Iemura, T. Natsume, R. Kuwahara, T. Nakagawa, K. Nishikawa, K. Mukai, E. Miyoshi, N. Taniguchi, D. Sheff, W. I. Lencer, T. Taguchi, and H. Arai. 2011. Intracellular phosphatidylserine is essential for retrograde membrane traffic through endosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108: 15846–51.

357. Groemer, T. W., C. S. Thiel, M. Holt, D. Riedel, Y. Hua, J. Hüve, B. G. Wilhelm, and J. Klingauf. 2011. Amyloid Precursor Protein Is Trafficked and Secreted via Synaptic Vesicles. *PLoS One* 6: e18754.

358. Raposo, G., H. W. Nijman, W. Stoorvogel, R. Liejendekker, C. V Harding, C. J. Melief, and H. J. Geuze. 1996. B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 1161–72.

359. Urbanska, A., L. Sadowski, Y. Kalaidzidis, and M. Miaczynska. 2011. Biochemical

characterization of APPL endosomes: the role of annexin A2 in APPL membrane recruitment. *Traffic* 12: 1227–41.

360. Luzio, J. P., B. M. Mullock, P. R. Pryor, M. R. Lindsay, D. E. James, and R. C. Piper. 2001. Relationship between endosomes and lysosomes. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 29: 476–480.

361. Wilson, J. M., M. de Hoop, N. Zorzi, B. H. Toh, C. G. Dotti, and R. G. Parton. 2000.
EEA1, a tethering protein of the early sorting endosome, shows a polarized distribution in hippocampal neurons, epithelial cells, and fibroblasts. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11: 2657–71.
362. Schmieg, N., G. Menendez, G. Schiavo, and M. Terenzio. 2014. Signalling endosomes in axonal transport: Travel updates on the molecular highway. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 27: 32–43.

363. Parton, R. G., K. Simons, and C. G. Dotti. 1992. Axonal and dendritic endocytic pathways in cultured neurons. *J. Cell Biol.* 119: 123–37.

364. Venugopal, C., C. M. Demos, K. S. J. Rao, M. A. Pappolla, and K. Sambamurti. 2008. Beta-secretase: structure, function, and evolution. *CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets* 7: 278–94.

365. Netzer, W. J., K. Bettayeb, S. C. Sinha, M. Flajolet, P. Greengard, and V. Bustos. 2017.
Gleevec shifts APP processing from a β-cleavage to a nonamyloidogenic cleavage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 114: 1389–1394.

366. Farmery, M. R., L. O. Tjernberg, S. E. Pursglove, A. Bergman, B. Winblad, and J. N?slund. 2003. Partial Purification and Characterization of ?-Secretase from Post-mortem Human Brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278: 24277–24284.

367. Li, Y.-M., M.-T. Lai, M. Xu, Q. Huang, J. DiMuzio-Mower, M. K. Sardana, X.-P. Shi, K.-C. Yin, J. A. Shafer, and S. J. Gardell. 2000. Presenilin 1 is linked with gamma -secretase activity in the detergent solubilized state. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97: 6138–6143. 368. Edbauer, D., E. Winkler, J. T. Regula, B. Pesold, H. Steiner, and C. Haass. 2003.

Reconstitution of γ-secretase activity. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 5: 486–488.

369. Yonemura, Y., E. Futai, S. Yagishita, S. Suo, T. Tomita, T. Iwatsubo, and S. Ishiura. 2011. Comparison of presenilin 1 and presenilin 2 γ-secretase activities using a yeast reconstitution system. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286: 44569–75.

370. Hicks, D. A., N. N. Nalivaeva, and A. J. Turner. 2012. Lipid rafts and Alzheimer's disease: protein-lipid interactions and perturbation of signaling. *Front. Physiol.* 3: 189.

371. Lee, S.-J., U. Liyanage, P. E. Bickel, W. Xia, P. T. Lansbury, and K. S. Kosik. 1998. A detergent-insoluble membrance compartment contains A? in vivo. *Nat. Med.* 4: 730–734.
372. Lemkul, J. A., and D. R. Bevan. 2011. Lipid composition influences the release of Alzheimer's amyloid β-peptide from membranes. *Protein Sci.* 20: 1530–45.

373. Ikeda, K., T. Yamaguchi, S. Fukunaga, M. Hoshino, and K. Matsuzaki. 2011.

Mechanism of Amyloid ?-Protein Aggregation Mediated by GM1 Ganglioside Clusters. *Biochemistry* 50: 6433–6440.

374. Luzio, J. P., M. D. J. Parkinson, S. R. Gray, and N. a Bright. 2009. The delivery of endocytosed cargo to lysosomes. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 37: 1019–1021.

375. Luzio, J. P., P. R. Pryor, and N. a Bright. 2007. Lysosomes: fusion and function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8: 622–632.

376. Ostrowski, M., N. B. Carmo, S. Krumeich, I. Fanget, G. Raposo, A. Savina, C. F. Moita, K. Schauer, A. N. Hume, R. P. Freitas, B. Goud, P. Benaroch, N. Hacohen, M. Fukuda, C. Desnos, M. C. Seabra, F. Darchen, S. Amigorena, L. F. Moita, and C. Thery. 2010. Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12: 19-30–13.

377. Kowal, J., M. Tkach, and C. Théry. 2014. Biogenesis and secretion of exosomes. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 29: 116–125.

378. Piper, R. C., and J. P. Luzio. 2007. Ubiquitin-dependent sorting of integral membrane proteins for degradation in lysosomes. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 19: 459–465.

379. van Leeuwen, F. W., D. P. V. de Kleijn, H. H. van den Hurk, A. Neubauer, M. A. F. Sonnemans, J. A. Sluijs, S. Köycü, R. D. J. Ramdjielal, A. Salehi, G. J. M. Martens, F. G. Grosveld, J. P. H. Burbach, and E. M. Hol. 1998. Frameshift Mutants of β Amyloid Precursor Protein and Ubiquitin-B in Alzheimer's and Down Patients. *Science (80-.).* 279.

380. Lam, Y. A., C. M. Pickart, A. Alban, M. Landon, C. Jamieson, R. Ramage, R. J. Mayer, and R. Layfield. 2000. Inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 97: 9902–6.

381. Hong, L., H.-C. Huang, and Z.-F. Jiang. 2014. Relationship between amyloid-beta and the ubiquitin?proteasome system in Alzheimer?s disease. *Neurol. Res.* 36: 276–282.
382. L?pez Salon, M., L. Morelli, E. M. Casta?o, E. F. Soto, and J. M. Pasquini. 2000.
Defective ubiquitination of cerebral proteins in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 62: 302–310.

383. Tan, Z., X. Sun, F.-S. Hou, H.-W. Oh, L. G. W. Hilgenberg, E. M. Hol, F. W. van Leeuwen, M. A. Smith, D. K. O'Dowd, and S. S. Schreiber. 2007. Mutant ubiquitin found in Alzheimer's disease causes neuritic beading of mitochondria in association with neuronal degeneration. *Cell Death Differ.* 14: 1721–1732.

384. Gadhave, K., N. Bolshette, A. Ahire, R. Pardeshi, K. Thakur, C. Trandafir, A. Istrate, S. Ahmed, M. Lahkar, D. F. Muresanu, and M. Balea. 2016. The ubiquitin proteasomal system: a potential target for the management of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 20: 1392–407.

385. Ihara, Y., M. Morishima-Kawashima, and R. Nixon. 2012. The ubiquitin-proteasome system and the autophagic-lysosomal system in Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2.

386. El Ayadi, A., E. S. Stieren, J. M. Barral, and D. Boehning. 2013. Ubiquilin-1 regulates amyloid precursor protein maturation and degradation by stimulating K63-linked polyubiquitination of lysine 688. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*109: 13416–13421.

387. Stieren, E. S., A. El Ayadi, Y. Xiao, E. Siller, M. L. Landsverk, A. F. Oberhauser, J. M.
Barral, and D. Boehning. 2011. Ubiquilin-1 Is a Molecular Chaperone for the Amyloid
Precursor Protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286: 35689–35698.

388. Blalock, E. M., J. W. Geddes, K. C. Chen, N. M. Porter, W. R. Markesbery, and P. W.
Landfield. 2004. Incipient Alzheimer's disease: Microarray correlation analyses reveal major transcriptional and tumor suppressor responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101: 2173–2178.
389. Lucero, P., E. Peñalver, L. Vela, and R. Lagunas. 2000. Monoubiquitination is sufficient to signal internalization of the maltose transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J. Bacteriol.* 182: 241–3.

390. Nakatsu, F., M. Sakuma, Y. Matsuo, H. Arase, S. Yamasaki, N. Nakamura, T. Saito, and H. Ohno. 2000. A Di-leucine signal in the ubiquitin moiety. Possible involvement in ubiquitination-mediated endocytosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275: 26213–9.

391. Horák, J. 2003. The role of ubiquitin in down-regulation and intracellular sorting of membrane proteins: insights from yeast. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* 1614: 139–155.

392. Bulut, G. B., R. Sulahian, Y. Ma, N. Chi, and L. J. Huang. 2011. Ubiquitination regulates the internalization, endolysosomal sorting, and signaling of the erythropoietin receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286: 6449–57.

393. Shih, S. C., K. E. Sloper-Mould, and L. Hicke. 2000. Monoubiquitin carries a novel internalization signal that is appended to activated receptors. *EMBO J.* 19: 187–198.
394. Bielskien?, K., L. Bagdonien?, J. Moz?raitien?, B. Kazbarien?, and E. Janulionis. 2015.
E3 ubiquitin ligases as drug targets and prognostic biomarkers in melanoma. *Medicina (B.*

```
Aires). 51: 1–9.
```

...

395. Bobrie, A., M. Colombo, G. Raposo, and C. Théry. 2011. Exosome secretion: molecular mechanisms and roles in immune responses. *Traffic* 12: 1659–68.

396. Mathivanan, S., and R. J. Simpson. 2009. ExoCarta: A compendium of exosomal proteins and RNA. *Proteomics* 9: 4997–5000.

397. Strauss, K., C. Goebel, H. Runz, W. M?bius, S. Weiss, I. Feussner, M. Simons, and A. Schneider. 2010. Exosome Secretion Ameliorates Lysosomal Storage of Cholesterol in Niemann-Pick Type C Disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285: 26279–26288.

398. Raposo, G., and W. Stoorvogel. 2013. Extracellular vesicles: Exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. *J. Cell Biol.* 200: 373–383.

399. Colombo, M., G. Raposo, and C. Th?ry. 2014. Biogenesis, Secretion, and Intercellular Interactions of Exosomes and Other Extracellular Vesicles. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 30: 255–289.

400. Montermini, L., B. Meehan, D. Garnier, W. J. Lee, T. H. Lee, A. Guha, K. Al-Nedawi, and J. Rak. 2015. Inhibition of oncogenic epidermal growth factor receptor kinase triggers release of exosome-like extracellular vesicles and impacts their phosphoprotein and DNA content. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290: 24534–46.

401. Hannafon, B. N., and W. Q. Ding. 2013. Intercellular communication by exosomederived microRNAs in cancer. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14: 14240–14269.

402. Frühbeis, C., D. Fröhlich, and E.-M. Krämer-Albers. 2012. Emerging roles of exosomes in neuron-glia communication. *Front. Physiol.* 3: 119.

403. Balusu, S., E. Van Wonterghem, R. De Rycke, K. Raemdonck, S. Stremersch, K.

Gevaert, M. Brkic, D. Demeestere, V. Vanhooren, A. Hendrix, C. Libert, and R. E.

Vandenbroucke. 2016. Identification of a novel mechanism of blood-brain communication during peripheral inflammation via choroid plexus-derived extracellular vesicles. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 8: 1162–1183.

404. Dinkins, M. B., S. Dasgupta, G. Wang, G. Zhu, and E. Bieberich. 2014. Exosome reduction in vivo is associated with lower amyloid plaque load in the 5XFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35: 1792–1800.

405. Essandoh, K., L. Yang, X. Wang, W. Huang, D. Qin, J. Hao, Y. Wang, B. Zingarelli, T. Peng, and G.-C. Fan. 2015. Blockade of exosome generation with GW4869 dampens the sepsis-induced inflammation and cardiac dysfunction. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Basis Dis.* 1852: 2362–2371.

406. Wai, R., -Yan Choy, Z. Cheng, and R. Schekman. Amyloid precursor protein (APP) traffics from the cell surface via endosomes for amyloid β (A β) production in the trans-Golgi network.

407. Seaman, M. N. J. 2012. The retromer complex – endosomal protein recycling and beyond. *J. Cell Sci.* 125.

408. Popoff, V., G. A. Mardones, D. Tenza, R. Rojas, C. Lamaze, J. S. Bonifacino, G. Raposo, and L. Johannes. 2007. The retromer complex and clathrin define an early endosomal retrograde exit site. *J. Cell Sci.* 120: 2022–2031.

409. Burd, C., and P. J. Cullen. 2014. Retromer: a master conductor of endosome sorting. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 6: a016774.

410. Bonifacino, J. S., and J. H. Hurley. 2008. Retromer. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 20: 427–36.
411. Li, C., S. Z. A. Shah, D. Zhao, and L. Yang. 2016. Role of the Retromer Complex in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 8: 42.

412. Huang, Y., and L. Mucke. 2012. Alzheimer mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. *Cell* 148: 1204–22.

413. Niedowicz, D. M., P. T. Nelson, and M. P. Murphy. 2011. Alzheimer's disease: pathological mechanisms and recent insights. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 9: 674–84.

Sahily Reyes-Esteves was born in Santurce, Puerto Rico on September 3rd, 1987, the daughter of Irma Esteves-Oriol and Arnaldo Reyes-Ortiz. In 2005, she graduated from Notre Dame High School in Caguas, Puerto Rico. That fall, she entered the University of Puerto Rico at Humacao, where she majored in Biology. In May 2010, she graduated Summa Cum Laude with a Bachelor of Science. That same year, she was admitted to the joint MD/PhD Program between the University of Puerto Rico and the University of Texas MD Anderson Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences. She began her journey to become a physician-scientist in June 2010.